
July 8, 2021 

Director 
Arkansas Department of Energy and Environment, DEQ 
5301 Northshore Drive 
North Little Rock, Arkansas 72118-5317 

RE: Permit: 0102-S3N-R4; AFIN: 21-00036 
Financial Test 

Dear Director: 

"""""'CLEARWATER 
,- PAPER 1 r;:~~.i'"o~ap•rboard 

Clearwater Paper Corporation 
601 West Riverside, Suite 1100 
Spokane, WA 99201 

AFIN: 21-000::s..i(D 
PMT#: 0102-N-)GO 

JUL 0 9 2021 
DOCIDN: ~~~ 
TO .ss > .. I!R 

I am the Chief Financial Officer of Clearwater Paper Corporation with corporate offices located at 
601 West Riverside, Suite 1100, Spokane, Washington 99201. This letter is in support of this 
firm's use of the Financial Test to demonstrate financial assurance for closure and/or post-closure 
costs, as specified in Chapter 14 of APC&EC Regulation 22 (Solid Waste Management Act). 

1. This firm (Clearwater Paper Corporation) is the owner or operator of the following facilities 
for which financial assurance for closure, post-closure care, corrective action, or the sum 
of the combination of such costs to be covered, and any other environmental obligations 
demonstrated through the financial test specified in Reg.22. 1405 (e). The current closure 
and/or post-closure cost estimates covered by the test are shown for each facility. 

a. 

b. 

Class 1- 40 CFR Part 258 
Name & Permit Number None 
AFIN 
Physical Location 
Closure Cost Estimate 
Post-Closure Cost Estimate 

Class 3-40 CFR Part 258 
Name & Permit Number: Clearwater Paper Corporation - #01 02-S3N-R4 
AFIN 21-00036 
Physical Location Approximately 8 miles north of Arkansas City, AR in portions 
of Section 30, Township 11 South. Range 1 West, Desha County. AR 
Closure Cost Estimate: $593.900 
Post-Closure Cost Estimate _$x..1.!-4-'-"3::...,;. 2"'"'2:::..::0"--------
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c. Class4—4OCFRpart258

Name & Permit Number None

AFIN
.

Physical Location
.

Closure Cost Estimate
_____________

Post-Closure Cost Estimate
________

d. UIC Facilities —40 CFR part 144

Name & Permit Number None

AFIN
______________________

Physical Location
__________________

Closure Cost Estimate
..

Post-Closure Cost Estimate
_________

e. . Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Facilities —40 CFR part 280

Name & Permit Number None
.

.

AFIN : .

.

Physical Location
.

.

.

.

Closure Cost Estimate
__________________________________________

Post-Closure Cost Estimate
____________________________________

f. PCB Storage Facilities —40 CFR part 761
..

Name & Permit Number None

AFIN
______________________________________________

Physical Location
_______________________________________________

Closure Cost Estimate
__________________________________________

Post-Closure Cost Estimate .

g. Hazardous Waste TSD Facilities —40 CFR parts 264 & 265

Name & Permit Number None
.

AFIN
‘

.

.

.

Physical Location .

Closure Cost Estimate
_________________________________________

Post-Closure Cost Estimate
.

.

2. In states other than Arkansas, this firm, as owner or operator or guarantor, is

demonstrating financial assurance for the closure or post-closure care of the following
facilities through the use of a test equivalent or substantially equivalent to the financial test

specified in Regulation 22, Chapter 14. The current closure and/or post-closure cost

estimates covered by such a test are shown for each facility:

This firm (Clearwater Paper Corporation) is required to file a Form 10K with the Securities and

Exchange Commission (SEC) for the latest fiscal year
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The ‘fiscal. year of Clearwater Paper Corporation ends on December 31. The figures for the

following items marked with an asterisk are derived from this firm’s independently audited, year-

end financial statements for the latest completed fiscal year, ended December 31, 2020.

:

Alternative II:

1. Sum of current closure and post-closure cost estimates[total of all cost estimates

shown in the 2 paragraphs above]:.$ 737,120 .

‘

.

2. Total Liabilities: $ 1,279,300,000

3. NetWorth: $521,100,000 .

.

.

.

. 4. Is line 2 divided by line 3 less than 1.5? _______Yes X No.

5. The sum of the current closure, post-closure care, corrective action cost estimates

and any other environmental obligations, including guarantee,s plus $10 million:

. $10,737,120
: .

.

. .

6. Tangible Net Worth: $ 472,300,000
.

7. Is line 6 greater than line 5? X Yes . No. .

8. Net Worth: $ 521,100;000 (must be at least $10mifrion).
9. Line 8 plus the amount of any guarantees that have not been recognized as liabilities

:
on the financial statements: $ 521,100,000

.

(provided all of the current closure, post-closure care, and corrective action costs

and any other environmental obligations covered by a financial test are recognized
as liabilities on the owner’s or operator’s audited ffinancial statements)

,

10. Is line 6 greater than line 9? ____Yes X No.
.

.

111. Total’ assets in U.S.? $1,800,400,000
.

12. Is line 11 at least equal to line one 1? . X Yes ________No.

For any and all disputes arising out of, in connection with, or reiating to this Corporate Financial

Test, the Owner or Operator and DEQ expressly agree and consent that the exclusive jurisdiction
and venue for any proceeding shall be in Pulaski County Circuit Court for the State of Arkansas

in Little Rock, Arkansas, and the Owner or Operator and DEQ waive: any argument that the venue

in such a forum is not convenient and any rights under any Federal or State law establishing
jurisdiction or venue in, another forum. ‘

I hereby certify that the wording of this letter is in compliance with wording specified in APC&EC

Regulation 22.1405 (e)(2)(i)(A)(a) and (b), as such regulations were constituted on the date

shown immediately below.
‘

,

.

,

.

:

nance and Chief Financial OLicer
‘

Sinceretv,

Senior Vice

July 8, 2021
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2020 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

We are a premier private brand tissue manufacturer and producer of high-quality
paperboard products. Our products can provide more sustainable alternatives to products
made from non-renewable resources.

Company

. Implemented risk mitigation plan to protect employees and continue serving customers

during the COVID-19 pandemic

. Enhanced beneffits to support employees through COVID-19

. Awarded bonuses to approximately 2,800 front-line workers

. Appointed President & Chief Executive Offcer - Arsen Kitch, Senior Vice President & Chief

Financial Offcer - Mike Murphy and Senior Vice President and Consumer Products

General Manager - Joanne Shufelt

. Ratiffied Lewiston contracts with United Steelworkers & International Brotherhood of

Electrical Workers

. Reduced net debt by $200 million

. Repaid $160.8 million of term loan and reffinanced 2023 notes with 2028 notes

. Established the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion steering committee

Consumer Products Division

. Met or exceeded customer expectations in spite of unprecedented volatility in consumer

buying patterns
. Adjusted business operations to support unprecedented tissue demand

. Achieved Shelby, North Carolina paper machine ramp-up, new paper machine reached full

production run rate

. Expanded retailers capacity to grow their private brands through innovation of quality

products
. Received awards for outstanding support, execution, partnership, and distribution from

major customers

Pulp and Paperboard Division

. Maintained strong and stable performance during COVID-19 pandemic

. Introduced ReMagineTM premium folding carton paperboard with 30% recycled content

. Received industry awards for paperboard packaging innovation and sustainability



SUSTAINABILITY

We believe in careful utilization of our limited natural resources and understand our role in

conserving and protecting the planet’s air, water, and land, and in managing climate change
risk:

o The primary raw material in both our tissue and paperboard products is wood, which

is 100% renewable and commonly recycled resource.

o 100% of our wood comes from sustainably managed forests either controlled or

certiffied by ffiber sourcing standards, including Forest Stewardship Council (FSC)
Chain of Custody, Sustainable Forestry Initiative (SFI), and Programme for the

Endorsement of Forest Certiffication (PEFCTM).

o Our paperboard products enable our customers to use renewable packaging rather

than plastics.

Since 2012, we have reduced our costs and our environmental impact by designing out

waste and pollution:

o Reduced our greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 3%

o Reduced purchased energy intensity by 6%

o Improved water usage intensity by 11%

o Introduced two new products with recycled content. NuVoc, cupstock with up to

35% post-consumer recycled ffiber, and ReMagineTM,a folding carton board with up

to 30% post-consumer recycled ffiber.

o Signifficantly reduced our waste-to-landffill intensity by 68%

We support the principles of a circular economy and apply a management systems

approach in each of our focus areas to support priorities and goals.

We utilize Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Reporting Principles as the framework for our

reporting and are committed to sharing our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

performance results and encourage open dialogue and feedback that helps make us better.

Our ESG reporting is both Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) and Task

Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) aligned. Our Environmental

disclosures include:

o Wood Source Type

o Wood Source Location

o Total Energy and Energy Intensity

o Energy Use by Source

o Electricity Use and Electricity Intensity

o Percentage Renewable Energy

o Total CO2 Emissions and Emissions Intensity

o Water Use and Water Intensity

We were recognized in 2020 for our safety and innovation eLorts.

o American Forest & Paper Association - Leadership in Sustainability for Safety

Awarded for our implementation of a proactive risk identiffication and control

process focused on the prevention of signifficant injury and fatalities (S IF).

o Pulp & Paper Safety Association - Safety Innovator Award

. Awarded for the development and implementation of an enclosed process that

allows employees to safely sample chemical lines.



o RISI - Packaging Innovation Award

Awarded for the launch of our NuVo Cup Stock that has increased levels

of post-consumer recycled fiber content while providing a hot cup print
surface that allows for high-definition graphic design with less ink usage.

We believe that a sustained commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusion makes us a

stronger organization. We are dedicated to fostering and sustaining an environment where

our teammates, who stand beside us and work with us, are valued for their unique
backgrounds, knowledge, skills, and experiences.

We maintain a human capital policy that supports a diverse and energized workforce with

career advancement, role mobility opportunities, and strong health, safety, and wellness

initiatives. Our values guide us beyond producing ffinancial returns to serving our

communities and developing our people.

We oTher competitive beneffits, including market-competitive compensation, healthcare, paid
time 0Th, parental leave, retirement beneffits, tuition assistance, employee skills development,
and leadership development, to attract and retain the best available talent.

We aspire to achieve zero workplace injuries and provide a safe, open, and accountable

work environment for our employees. We provide several channels for all employees to

speak up, ask for guidance, and report concerns related to ethics or safety violations. We

address employee concerns and take appropriate actions that uphold our Clearwater Paper
values, which include:

o Commitment

o Collaboration

o Communication

o Courage

o Character
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Part I

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION .

Our disclosure and analysis in this report contains, in addition to historical information, certain forward-looking
statements within IIe meaning ofthe Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements regarding
the impact of COVID-19 on our operations; production quality and quantity, our strengIIs and related beneffits; our

strategy; competitive market conditions; raw materials and input usage and costs, including energy costs and usage;

selling, general and administrative cost reduction beneffits; strategic projects and related costs and beneffits; energy

conservation; cash flows; capital expenditures; return on investment from capital projects; compliance wiII our loan and

ffinancing agreements; tax rates; operating costs; selling, general and administrative expenses; timing of and costs related

to major maintenance, construction, and repairs; liquidity; beneffit plan funding levels; stockholder equity; capitalized
interest; and interest expenses. Words such as “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “target,” “project,” “believe,”

“schedule,” “estimate,” “may,” and similar expressions are intended to identi’such forward-looking statements. These

forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections that

are subject to change. Our actual results of operations may diTher materially from those expressed or implied by the

forward-looking statements contained in this report. Important factors that could cause or contribute to such diTherences

in operating results include those risks discussed in Item 1A of this report, as well as IIe following:

. impact ofthe COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, our suppliers’ operations and our customer demand;

. competitive pricing pressures for our products, including as a result of increased capacity as additional

manufacturing facilities are operated by our competitors and the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on the

pricing of products globally; .

IIe loss of, changes in prices in regard to, or reduction in, orders fflom a signifficant customer;

changes in the cost and availability of wood flber and wood pulp;
,

. changes in transportation costs and disruptions in transportation services;
.

. changes in customer product preferences and competitors’ product offerings; .

. larger competitors having operational, financial and other advantages;
customer acceptance and timing and quantity ofpurchases of our tissue products, including the existence of

sufficient demand for and the quality of tissue produced by our expanded Shelby, North Carolina operations;
. consolidation and vertical integration of converting operations in the paperboard industry;

our ability to successfully implement our operational efflciencies and cost savings strategies, along with related
‘

capital projects;
. changes in the U.S. and international economies and in general economic conditions in IIe regions and :

industries in which we operate;
. manufacturing or operating disruptions, including IT system and IT system implementation failures, equipment

malfunctions and damage to our manufacturing facilities;
‘

cyber-security risks;
.

. changes in costs for and availability of packaging supplies, chemicals, energy and maintenance and repairs;
labor disruptions; ,

.

.

.

.

.,
.

cyclical industry conditions;
. changes in expenses, required contributions and potential withdrawal costs associated with our pension plans;

environmental liabilities or expenditures;
.

.

. reliance on a limited number of third-party suppliers for raw materials;
our ability to attract, motivate, train and retain qualiffied and key personnel;
our substantial indebtedness and ability to service our debt obligations and restrictions on our business fflom

debt covenants and terms;
. negative changes in our credit agency ratings; and

. changes in laws, regulations or industry standards affecting our business.

Forward-looking.statements contained in IIis report present management’s views only as of the date of this report.

Except as required under applicable law, we do not intend to issue updates concerning any future revisions of

management’s views to reflect events or circumstances occurring after IIe date of IIis report. You are advised, however,
to’ consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our quarterly reports on Form 1O-Q and current reports
on Form 8-K flied with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.

‘

ABOUT THIRD PARTY INFORMATION
.

In this annual report on Form 10-K, we rely on and, refer to information regarding industry data obtained fflom market

1



research, publicly available information, industry publications, U.S. government sources, and other third parties.

AlIIough we believe IIe information is reliable, we cannot guarantee the accuracy or completeness of IIe information

and have not independently veriffied.
.

2



ITEM 1. Business
.

GENERAL
.

We are a manufacturer and premier supplier of quality consumer tissue, parent roll tissue and bleached paperboard. We

supply private label tissue to major retailers, including grocery, drug, mass merchants and discount stores. In addition,
we produce and supply bleached paperboard to quality-conscious printers and packaging converters, and offer services

that include custom sheeting, slitting and cutting.
.

STRATEGY
. .

Our long-term strategy is to expand our business to meet the needs of our customers and optimize the proffitability of

boII our Consumer Products and our Pulp and Paperboard businesses. In the near-term, our focus is on reducing debt,

optimizing our installed capital projects and improving the operating and cost effectiveness ofboth segments of our

company.
.

.

ORGANIZATION
.

Our business is organized into two operating segments: Consumer Products and Pulp and Paperboard. Sales for these

businesses for the last three years are included in the table below: .

Year Ended December 31, Increase (decrease)

(In millions) 2020 2019 2018 2020-2019 2019-2018

Consumer Products $ 1,032.7 . $ 906.8 $ 884.8 13.9 %

Pulp and Paperboard 835.9 854.7 839.4 . (2.2)% 1.8 %

F $ 1,868.6 $ 1,761.5 $ 1,724.2 6.1 % 2.2 %j
Consumer Products Segment

,

Our Consumer Products segment sells and produces a complete line of at-home tissue products. Our integrated

manufacturing and converting operations and geographic footprint enable us to deliver a broad range of cost-competitive

products wiII brand equivalent quality to our customers. We also sell minor amounts of non-retail products including

away from home (AFH) products, parent rolls and contract manufacturing and minor amounts of pulp.

Our Consumer Products Business
,

We believe that we are the only U.S. consumer tissue manufacturer that solely produces a full line of quality private label

tissue products for large retail trade channels with, a national footprint. We believe we are able to offer products that

match the quality of leading national brands, but generally at lower prices. We utilize independent companies to

routinely test our product quality.
.

In bath tissue,the majority of our sales are high quality two-ply ultra and premium products. In paper towels, we produce
and sell ultra quality towels as well as premium and value towels. In the facial category, we sell ultra-lotion three-ply and

a complete line oftwo-ply premium products, as well as value facial tissue. In napkins, we manufacture ultra two- and
,

three-ply dinner napkins, as well as premium and value one-ply luncheon napkins. Value grade products utilizing

recycled ffiber are also produced for customers who wish to furIIer diversi’their product portfolio. We compete

primarily in IIe at-home portion of the U.S. tissue market, which made up approximately 94% of our Consumer Products

segment sales in 2020.
‘

,

We sell private label tissue products through our own sales force and compete based on product quality, customer service

and price. We deliver customer-focused business solutions by assisting in managing product assortment, category

management and pricing and promotion optimization.
.

Pulp and Paperboard Segment

Our Pulp and Paperboard segment markets and manufactures bleached paperboard for the high-end segment of the,

packaging industry and is a leading producer of Solid Bleached Sulfate (SBS) paperboard. This segment produces
hardwood and soifiwood pulp, which is primarily used as IIe basis for our paperboard products or transferred to our

Consumer Products business.

3



Our Pulp and Paperboard Business

We believe we are one ofthe four largest producers of bleached paperboard in North America with approximately 15%

of the available production capacity in 2020. We also provide custom sheeting, slitting and cutting ofpaperboard

products.

Our paperboard production consists of folding carton, liquid packaging, cup and plate products, blister and carded

packaging, top sheet and commercial printing grades and soffiwood pulp.

Folding carton board used in pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and other premium packaging, such as IIose IIat incorporate
foil and holographic lamination, accounts for the largest portion ofour total paperboard sales. We focus on high-end

folding carton applications where the heightened product quality requirements provide for differentiation among

suppliers, generally resulting in margins IIat are more attractive than less demanding packaging applications.

Our liquid packaging paperboard is known for its cleanliness and print ability, and is engineered for long-lived

performance due to its three-ply, soifiwood construction. Our reputation for producing liquid packaging meets the most

demanding standards for paperboard quality and cleanliness, where consumers have a particular tendency to associate

blemish-free, vibrant packaging with the cleanliness, quality and freshness of the liquids contained inside.

With IIe exception of our capability to supply just-in-time sheeting and narrow rolls, we do not produce converted

paperboard end-products, so we are not simultaneously a supplier of and a competitor to our customers in key market

segments, notably folding carton and cup. Ofthe ffive largest SBS paperboard producers in the United States, we are the

only producer IIat does not convert SBS paperboard into folding cartons, cups, plates or liquid packaging end-use

products. We position our independent status to attract a diverse group of loyal customers because when there is

increased market demand for paperboard, we do not divert our production to internal uses.

We can convert paperboard parent rolls to flat sheets and narrow rolls, which expands our in-market service capabilities
and allows us to support small and mid-sized folding carton converters IIat buy sheeted paperboard to convert into

packaging end-products. Providing a service platform in this way expands the key folding carton segment of our business

and does not compete wiII our customers in oIIer key market segments.

We utilize various methods for the sale and distribution of our paperboard. The majority of our paperboard is sold to

packaging converters in NorII America IIrough sales managers located throughout the United States, with a smaller

percentage channeled through distribution to commercial printers. We directly sell sheeted paperboard products to

folding carton converters, merchants and commercial printers. Our principal methods of competing are product quality,
customer service and price.

INPUT COSTS

Raw Materials .

Wood ffiber is our principal raw material, which consists of chips, sawdust and logs. We own and operate a wood

chipping facility which we believe bolsters our wood ffiber position and provides short-term and long-term cost savings.

Additionally, we procure a portion of our pulp requirements. Annually, we purchase approximately 330,000 short tons of

pulp, the majority of which is bleached hardwood pulp, on IIe open market through long-term contracts or market

transactions. The Pulp and Paperboard segment purchases approximately 55,000 short tons and the Consumer Products

segment purchases approximately 275,000 short tons. The remaining pulp needs for our Consumer Products segment are

supplied internally by the Pulp and Paperboard segment.
.

In addition to wood fiber, we utilize a significant amount of chemicals in IIe production of pulp and paper, including

caustic, polyethylene, starch, sodium chlorate, latex and specialty process paper chemicals. A portion of the chemicals

used in our manufacturing processes, particularly in IIe pulp-making process, are petroleum-based or are impacted by

petroleum prices.

Transportation

,

Transportation is a significant cost input for our business. Fuel prices, mileage driven and line-haul rates impact our

‘

transportation costs for delivery of raw materials to our madufacturing facilities, internal inventory transfers and delivery
of our finished products to customers.

.

Energy

We consume substantial amounts of energy, such as electricity, hog fuel, steam and natural gas. We purchase a

significant portion of our natural gas and electricity under supply contracts, most ofwhich are between a speciffic facility

4 .



and a specific local provider. Under most ofIIese contracts, IIe providers have agreed to provide us with our

requirements for a particular type of energy at a specific facility. Most ofthese contracts have pricing mechanisms that

adjust or set prices based on current market conditions.

SEASONALITY
.

Our Consumer Products segment can experience a decrease in shipments during the fourth quarter as a result of retail

brand holiday promotions. In addition, customer buying patterns for our paperboard generally result in lower sales for

certain grades of our Pulp and Paperboard segment during the ffirst and fourth quarters, compared to the second and third

quarters of a given year.
.

GOVERNMENTAL

For a discussion of IIe uncertainties and business risks associated with the environmental regulations, see Part I, Item

1A, “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business Operations and the Markets in Which We Operate— We are subject
to significant environmental regulations and environmental compliance expenditures, which could increase our costs and

subject us to liabilities” including information regarding environmental matters under Part II, Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this report, and which is incorporated
herein by reference.

.

.

WEBSITE
.

.

.

Interested parties may access our periodic and current reports flied with the SEC, at no charge, by visiting our website,

www.clearwaterpaper.com. In IIe menu select “Investor Relations,” then select “Financial Information & SEC Filings.”
Information on our website is not part of this report.

.

HUMAN CAPITAL
,

.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact lives and businesses around the world. We have taken proactive steps to

help protect the health and safety of our employees and maintain business continuity. A vast majority of our office

workers continue to telecommute. WiIIin our production and office areas we have established several safety protocols,

including face covering and physical distance requirements, enhanced cleaning, encouraging daily self-health checks,

temperature screening stations, and access to virtual primary care physicians at no additional cost. We are also actively

planning for the time when COVID-19 vaccines will be available for our employees.

We believe that a sustained commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion makes us a stronger organization. We are

dedicated to fostering and sustaining an environment where our teammates who stand beside us and work with us are

valued for their unique backgrounds, knowledge, skills and experiences.

To attract and retain IIe best-qualified talent, we offer competitive benefits, including market-competitive compensation,

healIIcare, paid time off, parental leave, retirement beneffits, tuition assistance, employee skills development and

leadership development.

Safety, quality, and integrity are at IIe core of how Clearwater Paper operates. We aspire to achieve zero workplace

injuries and provide a safe, open, and accountable work environment for our employees. We provide several channels for

all employees to speak up, ask for guidance, and report concerns related to ethics or safety violations. We address

employee concerns and take appropriate actions that uphold our Clearwater Paper values.

As ofDecember31, 2020, we had approximately 3,340 employees, of which approximately 1,524 of our workforce was

covered under collective bargaining agreements. Unions represent hourly employees at three of our manufacturing sites.

For a discussion of the uncertainties and business risks associated wiII employee relations, see Part I, Item IA, “Risk

Factors—Risks Related to Our Business Operations and IIe Markets in Which We Operate— Our business and financial

performance may be harmed by future labor disruptions.”
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ITE  1A. Risk

Our busin ss, f inancial onditi n, es l s of op rat ons and liqui it  ar  subje t to ariou  risks a

inclu ing tho e esc ibed bel w, and as  re ult  the tr di g prie f our c

RIS S ELATEDTO OUR B SINE S OPERATI NS AND THE MARKETS IN WHICH WE OPER

The CO VID 19 pandemic may  adv rse y affec  our ope at ons andffi ancia  cond

The CO ID- 19 pa dem c has had, and anot er andemic n he futur  co ld have, reper ussions a ross reg onal a
global e onomies nd fin ncial marke s. The outbreak of COVID-1  h s signifficantly a

ec nom c activi y and has ont ibuted to sign ff cant ola ility in ffinanci lmarkets

In Ie d mestic paperboa d nd issue arkets in 2020  the COVID-19 pa d mic resulted in signi fi ant va iab lity. s

has been widely repo te  n the ed a, ompanies ike ours exp rie ce  a signiffi ant incr ase in dem nd for ti

pro ucts durin  2020 as a r sult of IIe an emi , partic larly due to r siddntial co sume  purchasin  behavio . De

for aperboard pro ucts was ls  aLe ted by he OVID-19 pa demic,

foo  packagin  an  decreases in foo  service nd omm rcial prin

Our busi es , t e busi ess s of ur cus omers and the usine ses of o r s ppl ers could b  ma eri lly and ad

a fec ed by th  i pact an  risks f he an emic  S ch isks include, but are not

. the comp et  or partial cl sure of ne or mo e of our anufact ring f cilities;

. the lo s of 

b siness plan

. limitatio s n our ability to ope at  our bu iness as a r su t of any fed ra , state or lo al regu at

di rupt ons to inter atio al trade  o  further res ri tions or p ohib tion  on in er atio al travel, on w ich

to ma e our pr ducts (fo  exampl , an nterrupt on in euc ly tus pulp from raz l or lack f availabil

s are parts o  t chnica  su por  fflom Eu opean sup liers of ur prod c ion a d conver in  equipm n

. vari bil ty n demand fo  ur pro uc s  includin  inabili y to mee  a sharp ncrease i  dem nd, a de rease 

demand fo  our pr ducts as a r sult of a rol nged co omic downtu n or global r cession fo  examp e, uri

previous, xtre e ecessio ary per ods in he U.S , we expe ienced sigriif

p per oard used in fo din  carton, cup and li ui  packa in  ap lication );

. the int rr ption of ur distrib ti n s stem o  delays
i

temporary r long- er  disrup ion n our uppl  chains;
vo atility el ted to pens on pla  sset  ( or e ample, we m y need to mak  additional co tribution  to ad

an in rease n ob ig tions nd/o  a lo s in plan ssets as

rates and/or past or fu ur  plan sset inves ment los

signiff ca t d sruptio

c pital i  t e f

a decline in ou  ability o co lect n c ounts re ei able, hic  co ld materi

. b nk uptcy of cus om rs that le ds to a decreas  i  demand for our roducts
and a  inter up ion in proces ing or an i ability to rocess a co nts payab

could res lt in our supplie s and vendor  w thhlding s ppl es or

Increas s i tissue su ply, parti

resu ts nd f ina cial c ndition

Over t e pa t fe  years, s ve al new or re ur ish d rem um and ultra quality t ssue pa er ma hines and co verti

assets h ve een ompleted or announ ed b  us and by ur compe it rs, includ ng private lab l competitors  which ha

resulted and wil  continue to esult i  a ub tantial inc ease in the upply f premiu  and ultr -quality is

American m rket. Add ti n lly, s ve al new r refurbish d conventi nal t ssue mac ine  have been in talle

announ ed  includin  as a esult f f re gn ompetito s increas ng IIei  prese ce and operat ons in No th Amer ca. 

res lt o  increa ed tissu  deman  due to the C VID-19 pa demic  foreign ti sue manu acturers incre sed ex

the U.S. mark t, regional tissu  manufac ur rs ncrease  their rod cton, a d some aw y-from home ti su
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increasin  ti su  c paci y, toge he  wi h intensi yin  competitio  experien ed by ou  reta l usto ers, has ma e t .

difficu t for s o pass thr ugh to our cust me s I e sig ificant ncreas s in inp t costs e ave expe ienced in he

several yea s. If demand or tis ue pro ucts in he North Ame ican mar et does n t increas  or consumer pu chasin  o

premium and u tra-qu lity tis ue do not n rease co mensura e with th  in rease  c pacity, the increase in s pply o

ultra-qua it  tissue p oducts co ld hav  amateria  ad erse effect o  the p ice of premiu  and ltr -quali y tiss
prod cts. I  ad ition, in rea ed supply of pr mium a d u tra-quality issue m y adv rsely aLect the marke  pr ces fo

such iss e and result in the displacem nt of dema d for co ve tional ti s e, which co ld adve se y a ect t

pri e for conve tional 
i

the fore ee bl  utur
The l ss of or  sign lca t reducti n in, o der from, or hanges in 

r

co ld adv r ely affect ur ope at ng resul s and f inancial con ition  .

We er ve a ub tanti l mo nt o  re en es ff om a conc nt a ed group of custome s. Our t p 10 cus om rs acc unted fo

50% of sales in 2 20. Ifwe lo e any o  IIe e custome s r a sub tan ial p rtion of IIeir busin ss or if t e t rms of ur

relationsh p w th any of IIern beco es less favorable t  us, our et sa es ould decl ne, which w ul  ha m our re

operatio s and fin nci l co dition. We ave experienc d i creased pric  an  promotio  competi ion in our co

pr ducts bus ne s, nd t is compet tion has ecre sed ur gro smargins nd a versel  ffected ou  flna ci l condit

We g neral y o not hav  lo g-term con ract  wi I many of ur custom rs hat ens re a conti uin  le el of bus nes

from IIem  I  ad ition, ur agre ments iII our ustomers, in lud ng our large t cu tom rs, are not excl

generally do n t cont in min mum vol me purchase co mitm nts. ur re ati nship w th our l rge t and mo t 

custome s wi l epe d on our bili y t  continue o eet IIe r n eds fo  qual ty products and ervi es at co peti ive

pr ces. Som  o  our cu tom rs ha e the cap bi it t  produce t e parent roll  or pro uc s t at th y urchase f om us. If

we lo e ne r m re of o r arge cu tomers r i  we xperienc  a sig ifi ant decline i  the le el f purcha es by an

them, w
 

a

ha med. .

We depen  on external sou ces of oo pulp and oo  ffiber for a sin flant portion f ur issue prductio, wh

subjects ou  

woo ffiber. 

Our C nsumer ro uc s seg ent sources  si nific nt portion of ts woo  pulp re uiremen s fflom exte nal supplier

whi h e poses us o ric  flu tuat on. For 020, we ourc d 70% f ou  Co sumer Product segment pulp equi eme

(or 30% o era l), of our pup fr m exte nal sources. ulp pr ces can, and ha e, cha ged si ni ican ly f om one pe iod 

the next. Th  v lat lity o  p lp rices can adver ely aff ct our e rnings if we re una le o pass co t ncre ses ont

cust mers r f I e timing f a y price ncre se  for o r pr ducts signi ic ntly tr ils Ie increases n p lp p ice

Wood fiber is the p inc pal raw aterial u ed t  crea e wood ul , which in turn is sed to anufacture ur ulp

pape board pro ucts and co sum r pro uct . Wo d f ber pricin  is subjec  to regiona  ma ke  influ nces, a d ur co

woo  fiber m y in re se n th  area  o r p lp and pape board facilit es are l ca ed due to market sh ifi  in those eg

For exa ple, much o  t e wood fi er e use in our p lp manuf ctur ng ‘pr ce s in Lew st n, Idaho, is IIe by prod ct 

sawmi l o eratio s. As a res lt, th  pr ce o  IIese re idu l wood iber  is ffected y op rating le els in bo

paper and um er in ustries. D ring the ast decade in the west rn .S. many aw ills have los d or curta le

opera ion  or heir o erations have be n c nsolid ted. Furt er, II  epan ion of operat ons and produ tio  of oI er 

mills and wood pellet manufacturers in he Inla d orthw st egio  of th  Unit d tates h s increa ed IIe dem nd a

price for wood fiber. Additiona ly, th  abi ity of ap r nd wood pe let mil s n Br tish ol mbia to acqu re wo d fi
e

fflom I e U.S. In and Nor hwe t regi n w th imited to no ecipro al bili y by U S. ills o cqui e woo  f ber

British C lu bia, red ce  the s pply of, 
n

Nor hwest i  expec ed o re ain v la

The primary ource fo  wo d fiber is timber, he avail bil ty of which m y b  limited by adve se weat er, fire  insec
inf station, d sease, ce torms, w ndst rms  flooding nd other natura  a d man mad  caus s, I reby reduci g suppl
and ncreas

n
 r

woo  fiber. ‘ 

The effe ts on m rk t price  fo  wood fiber res lting flom var ou  gove nmental progr ms involvi g ax credits
payments ela ed to biomas  a d other ren wa le nergy ro ects or ff om enviro men al itig tio  or regula

uncertain a d could resul  in  reduc ion in the su ply o  woo  flber avai abl  for our pulp a d paperbo rd anuf cturin
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we and our pulp suppliers are unable to obtain wood fiber at favorable prices or at all, our costs will increase and our

operations and financial results may be harmed.

We rely on a limited number ofthird-party suppliers and vendors requiredfor theproduction ofourproducts and our

operations.

Our dependence on a limited number ofthird-party suppliers, and IIe challenges we may face in obtaining adequate
supplies ofraw materials, involve several risks, including limited control over pricing, availability, quality and delivery
schedules. Limitations on the availability of, and subsequent increases in, the costs ofraw materials, could have an

adverse effect on the Company’s ffinancial results. We cannot be certain that our current suppliers will continue to

provide us with the quantities of these raw materials IIat we require or will continue to satisfy our anticipated

specifications and quality requirements. Any supply interruption in limited raw materials could materially harm our

ability to manufacture our products until a new source of supply, if any, could be identified and qualified. Although we

believe IIere are oIIer suppliers ofthese raw materials, we may be unable to flnd a sufficient alternative supply channel

in a reasonable time or on commercially reasonable terms.

We also depend on a limited number ofthird-party vendors for certain of our operating equipment and spare parts. Any

performance failure on the part of our suppliers or vendors could interrupt production of our products, which would have

a material adverse effect on our business.

The cost ofchemicals and energy neededfor our manufacturingprocessessignflcantly affects our results of

operations and cashflows.

We use a variety of chemicals in our manufacturing processes, including petroleum-based polyethylene and certain

petroleum-based latex chemicals. Prices for these chemicals have been and are expected to remain volatile. In addition,
chemical suppliers that use petroleum-based products in the manufacture of their chemicals may, due to supply shortages
and cost increases, ration the amount of chemicals available to us, and IIerefore we may not be able to obtain at

favorable prices the chemicals we need to operate our business, ifwe are able to obtain them at all.

Our manufacturing operations also utilize large amounts of electricity and natural gas. Energy prices have fluctuated

widely over the past decade, which in turn aLects our operational costs. We purchase on the open market a substantial

portion ofthe natural gas necessary to produce our products, and, as a result, the price and other terms, of those purchases
are subject to change based on factors such as worldwide supply and demand, geopolitical events, government

regulation, weather, interruptions in pipeline and other delivery systems and natural disasters. Our energy costs in future

periods will depend principally on our ability to produce a substantial portion of our electricity needs internally, on

changes in market prices for natural gas and on reducing energy usage. Any significant energy shortage or significant
increase in our energy costs in circumstances where we cannot raise IIe price of our products could have a material

adverse effect on our results of operations. Any disruption in the supply of energy’ could also affect our ability to meet

customer demand in a timely manner and could harm our reputation and our business.

Disruptions in transportation services or increases in our transportation costs could have a material adverse eLect on

our business.

Our business, particularly our Consumer Products business, is dependent on transportation services to deliver our

products to our customers and to deliver raw materials to us as well as for intercompany shipments ofparent rolls.

Shipments of products and raw materials may be delayed or disrupted due to weather, conditions, labor shortages or

strikes, regulatory actions or other events. If our transportation providers are unavailable or fail to deliver our products in

a timely manner, we may incur increased costs and we may be unable to manufacture and deliver our products on a

timely basis.
.:

.

The costs of these transportation services are also affected by geopolitical, economic and weather related events. We

have not been able in the past, and may not be able in the future, to pass along part or all of any fuel price increases to

customers. Ifwe are unable to increase our prices as a result of increased fuel or transportation costs, our gross margins

may be materially adversely aLected.

Competitors’ brandedproducts andprivate labelproducts could have an adverse eLect on ourffinancial results.

Our Consumer Products compete with well-known, branded products, as well as other private label products. Our

business may be harmed by new product offerings by competitors, the effects of consolidation within retailer and

distribution channels and price competition from companies that may have greater financial resources than we do. Ifwe

are unable to oTher our existing customers, or new customers, tissue products comparable to branded products or other

companies’ private label products in terms of quality, customer service and/or price, we may lose business or we may not
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be able to grow our existing business, and we may be forced to sell lower-margin products, all of which could negatively
aLect our financial condition and results of operations.

-

Larger competitors have operational and other advantages over our operations.

The markets for our products are highly competitive, and companies that have substantially greater financial resources

compete with us in each market. Some of our competitors have advantages over us, including lower raw material and

labor costs and better access to the inputs of our products.
-

.

.

Our Consumer Products business faces competition from companies IIat produce the same type ofproducts that we

produce or that produce alternative products that customers may use instead of our products. Our Consumer Products

business competes with the branded tissue products producers, such as Piocter & Gamble, and branded label producers
who manufacture branded and private label products, such as Georgia-Pacific and Kimberly-Clark. These companies are

far larger than us, have more sales, marketing and research and development resources than we do, and enjoy significant
cost advantages due to economies of scale. In addition, because of their size and resources, these companies may foresee

market trends more accurately than we do and develop new technologies that render our products less attractive or

obsolete. . .

.

.

Our ability to successfully compete in the pulp and paperboard industry is influenced by a number of factors, including

manufacturing capacity, general economic conditions and the availability and demand for paperboard substitutes. Our

Pulp and Paperboard business competes wiII WestRock, Georgia-Pacific, Graphic Packaging, Pactiv Evergreen and

other international producers, most ofwhom are much larger than us. Any increase in manufacturing capacity by- any of

these or other producers could result in overcapacity in the pulp and paperboard industry, which could cause downward

pressure on pricing. For example, a large European manufacturer recently converted a U.S. facility to produce SBS

paperboard for the North American market. Increased production by foreign manufacturers may result in increased

competition in the North American paperboard markets ifiom direct sales by foreign competitors into these markets or

increased competition in the United States as domestic manufacturers seek increased U.S. sales to offset displaced
overseas sales caused by increased sales by foreign suppliers into Asia and European markets. Furthermore, customers

could choose to use types of paperboard that we do not produce or could rely on alternative materials, such as plastic, for

their products. An increased supply of or demand for any of these products could cause us to lower our prices or lose

sales to competitors, either ofwhich could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows.

Changing retailpurchasingpatterns have increased the need to increase operating effciencies and diversify our

customer base and sales channels.

We have historically sold a majority of our consumer tissue products through retail grocery stores. These and other

traditional retail outlets are facing increasingly intense competition from supercenters, club stores, wholesale grocers,

drug, dollar, variety and specialty stores. We also face increasingly intense competition fflom competitors who have

incorporated the internet as a direct-to-consumer channel and internet-only providers IIat sell tissue and other grocery

products. The intense competition faced by our customers has resulted in increased efforts by them to reduce costs frm

suppliers like us and requires that we become more cost efflcient to maintain our market share and proffitability. The

changing retail landscape also requires that we develop and maintain relationships with a wider variety of retailers and

retail channels to succeed in this dynamic environment, which can decrease our supply network efficiency and increase

our costs. .

The expansion ofour business through the construction ofnew tissue making and convertingfacilities may not

proceed as anticipaledL
. .

We added a paper machine capable of producing certain premium and ultra-quality tissue products and converting
facilities to our Shelby, North Carolina site. The expansion of the site is highly complex, and we continue the integration
of the new converting resources, including within our national tissue converting network. The ongoing work entails

numerous risks, including diverting management’s attention fflom other business concerns, diffculties in integrating the

new operations and personnel, and uncertainties regarding the existence of suffficient customer demand for the tissue

pIIduced by our integrated-network. Any ofthese risks if realized, could have-a material adverse effect on our business,
flnancial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Consolidation in the North American paperboard and converting industry may adversely affect our business.

The ongoing consolidation of paperboard and paperboard converting businesses, including through the acquisition and

integration of such converting businesses by larger competitors of ours, could result in a loss of customers and sales in

our pulp and paperboard business. A loss ofpaperboard customers or sales as a result of consolidations and integrations
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could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We incursigncantexpenses to maintain our manufacturing equipment and any interruption in the operations of
ourfacilities may harm our operatingperformance.

We regularly incur significant expenses to maintain our manufacturing equipment and facilities. The machines and

equipment that we use to produce our products are complex, interdependent, have many parts and some are run on a

continuous basis. We must perform routine maintenance on our equipment and will have to periodically replace a variety
of parts such as motors, pumps, pipes and electrical parts. In addition, our pulp and paperboard facilities require periodic
shutdowns to perform major maintenance. These scheduled shutdowns of facilities result in decreased sales and

increased costs in IIe periods in which they occur and could result in unexpected operational issues in future periods as a

result of changes to equipment and operational and mechanical processes made during the shutdown period.

Unexpected production disruptions could cause us to shut down or curtail operations at any of our facilities. Disruptions
could occur due to any number of circumstances, including prolonged power outages, mechanical or process failures,

shortages ofraw materials, natural catastrophes, disruptions in the availability of transportation, labor disputes,cyber
attacks and malware, terrorism, changes in or non-compliance with environmental or safety laws, and the lack of

availability of services from any of our facilities’ key suppliers. For example, in 2019, we had a fire at our Shelby, North

Carolina facility, and in 2020, severe weather damage to power lines resulted in a temporary shutdown of our Arkansas

mill. Any facility shutdowns may be followed by prolonged startup periods, regardless of the reason for the shutdown.

Those startup periods could range from several days to several weeks, depending on the reason for the shutdown and

other factors. Any prolonged disruption in operations at any of our facilities could cause significant lost production,
which would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Our business andfinancialperformance may be harmed byfuture labor disruptions.

As ofDecember31, 2020, approximately 46% of our.full-time employees were represented by unions under collective

bargaining agreements. As these agreements expire, we may not be able to negotiate extensions or replacement

agreements on terms acceptable to us. The collective bargaining agreement for hourly employees at our Neenah,

Wisconsin facility, which affects approximately 265 employees, expired in 2020 and extended until 2021. Any faflure to

reach an agreement with one of the unions may result in strikes, lockouts, work slowdowns, stoppages or other labor

actions, any ofwhich could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial results.

Cyclical industry conditions have in thepast affected and may continue to adversely affect the operating results and

cashflows ofourpulp andpaperboard business.

Our Pulp and Paperboard business has historically been affected by cyclical market conditions. We may be unable to

sustain pricing in IIe face of weaker demand, and weaker demand may in turn cause us to take production downtime. In

addition to lost revenue fflom lower shipment volumes, production downtime causes unabsorbed fixed manufacturing
costs due to lower production levels. Our results of operations and cash flows may be materially adversely aLected in a

period ofprolonged and significant market weakness. We are not able to predict market conditions or our ability to

sustain pricing and production levels during periods ofweak demand.

We rely on information technology in critical areas ofour operations, and a disruption relating to such technology
could harm ourfinancial condition.

We use information technology, or IT, systems in various aspects of our operations, including enterprise resource

planning, management of inventories, manufacturing, supply chain and customer sales. We have different legacy IT

systems that we are continuing to integrate, upgrade and move to the cloud. If one ofIIese systems was to fail or cause

operational or reporting interruptions, or ifwe decide to change these systems or hire outside parties to provide these

systems, we may suffer disrujtions, which could have a material adverse effect on our manufacturing and sales

operation, results of perations and financial condition. In addition, we may underestimate the costs, complexity and

time required to develop and implement new systems.
.

Weface cyber-security risks.
.

Our business operations rely upon secure information technology systems for data capture, processing, storage and

reporting. Despite careful security and controls design, implementation and updating, our information technology

systems or plant networks could become subject to cyber attacks. Network, system, application and data breaches could

result in operational disruptions or information misappropriation, which could result in lost sales, production

interruption, business delays, negative publicity and could have a material adverse eLect on our business, results of

operations and financial condition.
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We are subject to signflcant environmental regulation and environmental complianceecpenditures, which could

increase our costs and subject us to liabilities.
.

.

We are subject to various federal, state and foreign environmental laws and regulations concerning, among other things,
water discharges, air emissions, hazardous material and waste management and environmental cleanup. Environmental

laws and regulations continue to evolve and we may become subject to increasingly stringent environmental standards in

the future, particularly under air quality and water quality laws and standards related to climate change issues, such as

global warming. In particular, greenhouse gas emissions have increasingly become IIe subject of political and regulatory
focus and IIis may lead to changes in legislative and regulatoiy initiatives directed at limiting greenhouse emissions.

Increased regulatoiy activity at the state, federal and international level is possible regarding climate change as well as

other emerging environmental issues associated wiII our manufacturing sites, such as water quality standards.

Compliance wiII regulations that implement new public policy in IIese areas might require significant expenditures on

our part or even the curtailment of certain of our manufacturing operations. -

We are required to comply with environmental laws and IIe terms and conditions of multiple environmental permits. In

particular, the pulp and paper industry in IIe United States is subject to several performance based rules associated with

effluent and air emissions as a result of certain of its manufacturing processes. Federal, state and local laws and

regulations require us to routinely obtain authorizations from and comply with the evolving standards ofthe appropriate

governmental authorities, which have considerable discretion over the terms of permits. Failure to comply with

environmental laws and permit requirements could result in civil or criminal fines or penalties or enforcement actions,

including regulatory or judicial orders enjoining or curtailing our operations or requiring us to take corrective measures,

install pollution control equipment, or take oIIer remedial actions, such as product recalls or labeling changes. We also

may be required to make additional expenditures, which could be signifficant, relating to environmental matters on an

ongoing basis. There can be no assurance that future environmental permits will be granted or that we will be able to

maintain and renew existing permits, and IIe failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our results of

operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We own properties, conduct or have conducted operations at properties, and have assumed indemnity obligations for

properties or operations where hazardous materials have been or were used for many years, including during periods
before careful management of these materials was required or generally believed to be necessary. Consequently, we will

continue to be subject to risks under environmental laws IIat impose liability for historical releases of hazardous

substances and to liability for other potential violations of envir6nmental laws or permits at existing sites or ones for

which we have indemnity obligations.
-

.

RISK RELATED TO OUR EMPLOYEE PLANS
.

.

We may be required topay material amounts under multiemployerpension plans; one oftheplans in which we

participate is in acritical and declining”ffinancial status and this subjects us to potential. liabilities, particularly llfwe

withdrawfrom thisplan. ,

We contribute to two multiemployer pension plans. The amount of our annual contributions to these plans is negotiated
wiII IIe union representing our employees covered by the plan. In 2020, we contributed approximately $5.7 million to

these plans. If in future years we continue to participate in IIese plans, we may be required to make increased annual

contributions, which would reduce the cash available for business and other needs. The decision wheIIer to continue to

participate in IIese multiemployer plans does not rest solely with us; rather, it is negotiated as part of the collective

bargaining agreements with labor unions that participate in these plans. There are risks associated wiII boII continuing
to participate in multiemployer plans and with withdrawing from multiemployer plans.

Ifwe were to withdraw partially or completely from a multiemployer plan that is underfunded, we would be liable for a

proportionate share of IIat plan’s unfunded vested benefits as required by law. This is called a withdrawal ‘liability.

Ifwe continue to participate in a multiemployer pension plan, IIe future increases in annual contributions are difficult to

predict and largely beyond our control. For example, if any other contributing employer withdraws from a multiemployer

plan IIat is underfunded, and IIe wiIIdrawing employer cannot satis’ its withdrawal liability, then the proportionate
share of IIe plan’s unfunded vested beneffits IIat would be allocable to us and to the other remaining contributing

,

employers would increase. .

.

One ofIIe multiemployer pension plans to which we contribute, the JAM National Pension Fund, or JAM NPF, elected

to be certified to be in critical status” for IIe plan year beginning Januaiy 1, 2019. Ifwe were to withdraw from JAM

NPF, either completely or partially, we would incur a statutory withdrawal liability based on our proportionate share of .

‘
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JAM NPF’s unfunded vested benefits. Based on information available to us, as well as information provided by JAM

NPF, and reviewed by our actuarial consultant, we estimate that, as ofDecember 31, 2020, the withdrawal liability

payment that we would be required to make to JAM NPF were we to completely withdraw in 2020 would be a single

payment of approximately $4.2 million on a pretax basis. If we were deemed to be included in a “mass withdrawal” fflom

JAM NPF, this payment could be greater or result in our making annual payments. We currently have no plans to

wiIIdraw fflom JAM NPF and have not recognized any liability associated with a wiIIdrawal fflom JAM NPF in our

consolidated financial statements.
-

The other multiemployer pension plan to which we contribute, IIe PACE Industry Union-Management Pension Fund, or

PIUMPF, was certified to be in “critical status” for the plan year beginning January 1, 2010 and continued to be in

critical status through the plan year beginning January 1, 2014. For the plan years beginning January 1, 2015 through

January 1, 2020, PJUMPF was certified to be in “critical and declining status” under the Multiemployer Pension Reform

Act of2014. The number of employers participating in PJUMPF fell fflom 135 during 2012 to 49 during 2019 and IIe

ratio of inactive participants to active employees participating in PJUMPF has increased from 3.4 inactive participants

per each- active employee at IIe end of2013 to 15.6 inactive participants per each active employee at the end of 2019.

PIUMPF predicts it will become insolveiit in 2032. We are now the largest contributing employer remaining in PIUMPF.

We therefore expect that if we remain in PIUMPF our annual contributions could increase, although we have no way of

knowing by how much.

If instead we were to wiIIdraw from PIUMPF, either completely or partially, we would incur a statutory withdrawal

liability based on our proportionate share ofPIUMPF’s unfunded vested benefits. Based on information available to us,

as well as information provided by PIUMPF, and reviewed by our actuarial consultant, we estimate that, as ofDecember

31, 2020, IIe withdrawal liability payments IIat we would be required to make to PJUMPF were we to completely
wiIIdraw in 2020 would be approximately $5.7 million per year on a pretax basis. These payments would continue for

20 years with an estimated present value in excess of $78 million on a pre-tax basis. Ifwe were deemed to be included in

a “mass wiIIdrawal” fflom PJUMPF, these payments could continue indefinitely.

Were we voluntarily to withdraw fflom PIUMPF in 2020 or later, we could be subject to substantial payments in addition

to IIe wiIIdrawal liability payments described above. As a plan in critical and declining status, PIUMPF has adopted a

rehabilitation plan. That plan purports to require a withdrawing employer to make an additional, lump-sum payment -

above and beyond the statutory wiIIdrawal liability - based on PJUMPF’s accumulated funding deficiency, or AFD. We

do not believe PIUIvfPF’s purported imposition of the AFD on withdrawing employers is legally enforceable. However,

we are aware IIat one large employer that withdrew ifiom PIUMPF has recognized a liability for payment of an AFD

amount and that other withdrawing employers may have paid some amounts in respect to the AFD. There have been

lawsuits in federal courts challenging PIUIIVfPF’s AFD. These lawsuits have not resolved the issue. There are also efforts

underway in the United States Congress intended to address the financial situation of multiemployer plans, like PIUMPF,

that are in critical and declining status. A recent legislative proposal pending in Congress could make PIUMPF eligible
for financial relief that would signifficantly improve its funding and ability to remain solvent. It is uncertain whether this

proposal will be enacted as law or if enacted, it would reduce IIe payments we might be obligated to make if we were to

withdraw from PIUMPF in the future.
.

If the AFD were held to be legally enforceable, and if we were to elect to withdraw in some future year, the amount of

our AFD liability at the time of our withdrawal would be material and subject to a variety of factors including without

limitation the nature and timing of a withdrawal, the solvency or insolvency ofPIUMPF at IIe time of the withdrawal,

the level of contributions to the plan made by other contributing employers before our withdrawal, whether any

employers that had withdrawn in the intervening years had made AFD payments, and the effect of any Congressional
action to assist the funding of multiemployer plans.

We believe that the AFD, if held to be lawful, would be assessed only if an employer voluntarily withdraws from

PIUMIPF and that plan insolvency or any other circumstance IIat does not involve a voluntary wiIIdrawal by us would

not require us to make a payment in respect of the AFD. Therefore, since we currently have no plans to withdraw fflom

PIUMPF, we have not recognized any liability associated with a withdrawal from PIUMPF in our consolidated financial

-

statements.
.

Ifwe were to decide to withdraw voluntarily fflom PIUMPF in IIe future, and if the AFD were held to be enforceable

against us, IIe resulting liabilities would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, flnancial position,

liquidity and cash flows. Similarly, if, in the absence of a voluntary withdrawal by us, our understandings as stated above

are incorrect regarding IIe unenforceability of the AFD or the inapplicability of IIe AFD to us in the event ofplan

insolvency or other circumstances not involving a voluntary withdrawal by us, IIe resulting liabilities would have a
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material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position, liquidity and cash flows.

Adverse changes to, or requirements under, pension laws and regulations or adverse changes, requirements or claims

pursuant to PIUMPF’s rehabilitation plan, such as the AFD, could increase IIe likelihood and amount of our liabilities.

Were PIUMPF to fail, or were we to withdraw from PIUMPF, these liabilities would be in addition to the pension
contributions we would have to make to any new pension plan adopted or contributed to by us to replace PIUMPF. All of

this could materially reduce the cash we would have available for business and other needs.

Our company-sponsored salary pension plan is currently underfunded, and we may be required to make cash

payments to the plan, reducing cash availablefor our business.

We have a company-sponsored pension plan covering a portion of our salaried and hourly employees. The volatility in

the value of equity and fixed income investments held by this plan, coupled with a low interest rate environment

resulting in higher liability valuations, has caused the company-sponsored salary plan to be underfunded as the projected
benefit obligation has exceeded the aggregate fair value of plan assets by varying year-end amounts since 2008. At

December 31, 2020, our company-sponsored salary pension plan was underfunded in the aggregate by $12.5 million. As

a result of underfunding, we may be required to make contributions to our company-sponsored salary plan in future

years, which would reduce the cash available for business and other needs. In 2020, we made no contributions to the

company-sponsored pension plan, and we are not required to make contributions in 2021.

Ourpension and health care costs are subject to numerousfactors that could cause these costs to change.

In addition to our pension plans, we provide healII care benefits to certain of our current and former salaried and hourly

employees. Our health care costs vary with changes in health care costs generally, which have significantly exceeded

general economic inflation rates for many years. Our pension costs are dependent upon numerous factors resulting from

actual plan experience and assumptions about future investment returns. Pension plan assets are primarily made up of

equity and fixed income investments. Fluctuations in actual equity market returns as well as changes in general interest

rates may result in increased pension costs in future periods. Likewise, changes in assumptions regarding current

discount rates, expected rates of return on plan assets and mortality rates could also increase pension costs. Significant

changes in any ofthese factors may adversely impact our cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INDEBTEDNESS
.

We have a substantial amount ofindebtedness, which could have a material adverse effect on ourffinancial condition

and our ability to obtainffinancing in thefuture and to react to changes in our business.
-

We have a substantial amount of debt, which requires significant principal and interest payments. As ofDecember31,

2020, we had approximately $725 million face value of debt outstanding, collectively which is related to our Term Loan

Credit Agreement, $300 million 2014 Notes, $275 million 2020 Notes, asset-based loan revolving credit facility and

financeleases. Aifier giving effect to borrowing base limitations and issuance of letters of credit, we had availability of

approximately $227 million under the ABL Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2020.
.

Our significant amount of debt could have important consequences. For example, it could:

make it more difficult for us to satis’ our obligations under our notes and Credit Agreements;

increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and general industry conditions, including interest rate

fluctuations, because a portion of our borrowings, including those under the Credit Agreements, are and will

continue to be at variable rates of interest;

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow fflom operations to payments on our debt, which

would reduce the availability of our cash flow from operations to fund working capital, capital expenditures or

other general corporate purposes;
-

. limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry;

. place us at a disadvantage compared to competitors that may have propottioiately less debt;

. limit our ability to obtain additional debt or equity financing due to applicable financial and restrictive

covenants in our debt agreements; and

increase our cost ofborrowing.

. Despite our current indebtedness levels, we may still incur sign?flcant additional indebtedness. Incurring more

indebtedness could increase the risks associated with our substantial indebtedness.
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We may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness, including additional secured indebtedness, in the future.

The terms of the Credit Agreements restrict but do not prohibit us from doing so. After giving effect to borrowing base

limitations and issuance of letters of credit, we had availability of approximately $227 million under the ABL Credit

Agreement as of December 31, 2020. In addition, the Term Loan Credit Agreement allows us to issue additional secured

term loans and/or notes under certain circumstances, which would be guaranteed by our subsidiary guarantors. In

addition, the indentures governing our notes do. not prevent us fflom incurring certain other liabilities that do not

constitute secured indebtedness. If new debt or other liabilities are added to our current debt levels, the related risks that

we and our subsidiaries now face could intensify.

Ifwe default under the Credit Agreements, or other indebtedness, we may not be able to service our debt obligations.

In the event of a default under the Credit Agreements or other indebtedness, lenders could elect to declare all amounts

borrowed, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees, to be due and payable. If such acceleration occurs,

thereby permitting an acceleration of amounts outstanding under our debt obligations, we may not be able to repay the

amounts due. Events of default are separately defined in each credit agreement or indenture, but include events such as

failure to make payments when due, breach of covenants, default under certain other indebtedness, failure to satisfy

judgments in excess of a threshold amount, certain insolvency events and the occurrence of a change of control (as
defined in the Credit Agreements). The occurrence of an event of default could have serious consequences to our

financial condition and results of operations, and could cause us to become bankrupt or insolvent.

To service our substantial indebtedness, we must generatesignfficant cashflows. Our ability to generate cash depends
on manyfactors beyond our control, and we may beforced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our

indebtedness, which may not be successfuL

As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $725 million of outstanding indebtedness, and we could incur

substantial additional indebtedness in the future. Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to reffinance our

indebtedness, including our outstanding notes, and to fund planned capital expenditures, will depend on our ability to

generate cash from our operations. This, to a significant extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive,

legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.

We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will

be available to us under our credit agreements in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness, including our

outstanding notes, or to fund our other liquidity needs. We cannot assure you that we will be able to reffinance any of our

indebtedness, including our Credit Agreements and our outstanding notes, on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce

or delay investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our

indebtedness. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt

service obligations. If our operating results and available cash are insufficient to meet our debt service obligations, we

could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our

debt service and other obligations. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain the proceeds that

we could realize from them, and these proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due.

Additionally, our debt agreements limit the use ofthe proceeds from any disposition; as a result, we may not be allowed,
under these ddcuments, to use proceed from such dispbsitidns to satisfy all current debt service obligations.

The indenturefor our CreditAgreements, contain various covenants that limit our discretion in the operation ofour

business.
.

The indenture governing our Credit Agreements, contain various provisions that limit our discretion in the operation of

our business by restricting our ability to:
, .

undergo a change in control;
,

sell assets;

.

pay dividends and make othei distributions;

make investments and other restricted payments;

redeem or repurchase our capital stock;

incur additional debt and issue preferred stock;

guarantee indebtedness;
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create liens;

consolidate, merge or sill substantially all of our assets;

enter into certain transactions with our afffihiates; .

engage in new lines of business; and

enter into sale and lease-back transactions.

Theerestrictions on our ability to operate our business at our discretion could seriously harm our business by, among
other IIings, limiting our ability to take advantage of ffinancing, merger and acquisition and other corporate opportunities,
or to borrow in order to fund further capital expenditures. .

When (and for as long as) availability, as calculated, under IIe ABL Credit Agreement is less than a specified amount for

a certain period oftime, funds deposited into deposit accounts used for collections will be transferred on a daily basis

into a blocked account with the administrative agent and applied to prepay loans under IIe ABL Credit Agreement.

As a result of these covenants and restrictions, we may be limited in how we conduct our business and we may be unable

to raise additional debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities.
The terms of any future indebtedness we may incur could include more restrictive covenants. We cannot assure you that

ive will be able to maintain compliance with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to

obtain wai’ers fflom the lenders and/or amend the covenants.
.

There are various limitations on our ability to incur the full $250 million of commitments under the ABL Credit

Agreement and borrowings under our ABL Credit Agreement are limited by a specified borrowing base consisting of a

percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventoiy, less customary reserves. In addition, under the ABL Credit

Agreement, a monthly fixed charge maintenance covenant would become applicable during an event of default or if

availability, as calculated under the ABL Credit Agreement, is at any time less than 10.0% ofthe total $250 million of

current revolving loan commitments, or $25 million currently. As of December31, 2020, availability under the ABL

Credit Agreement was approximately $227 million. However, it is possible IIat availability, as calculated under the ABL

Credit Agreement, could fall below the 10.0% threshold in a future period. If IIe covenant trigger were to occur, we

would be required to satisf’ and maintain on the last day of each quarter a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1. lx for

the preceding four quarter period for which financial statements had been delivered. As of December 31, 2020, our fixed

charge coverage ratio was approximately 5.1. If and when the fixed charge coverage ratio were to be tested, our ability to

meet the minimum fixed charge coverage ratio could be affected by events beyond our control, and we cannot assure you

IIat we would meet this ratio at such time. A breach of any ofthese covenants could result in a default under the ABL

Credit Agreement.
.

.

Events beyond our control could affect our ability to meet IIese financial tests, and we cannot assure you IIdt we will

meet them. .

Ourfailure to comply with the covenants contained in our CreditAgreements or the indentures governing our

outstanding notes, including as a result ofevents beyond our control, could result in an event ofdefault that could

cause repayment ofthe debt to be accelerateiL
.

If we are not able to comply with the covenants and oIIer requirements contained in the indentures governing our

outstanding notes, our Credit Agreements or our oIIer debt instruments, an event of default under the relevant debt

instrument could occur. If an event of default does occur, it could trigger a default under our other debt instruments,

prohibit us fflom accessing additional borrowings, and permit the holders of the defaulted debt to declare amounts

outstanding with respect to that debt to be immediately due and payable. Our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient

to fully repay borrowings under our outstanding debt instruments. In addition, we may not be able to refinance or

restructure IIe payments on the applicable debt. Even ifwe were able to secure additional financing, it may not be

available on favorable terms.

Credit rating downgrades could increase our borrowing costs or, otherwise adversely affect us.

Some of our outstanding indebtedness has received credit ratings from rating agencies. Our credit ratings could change
based on, among oIIer IIings, our results of operations and financial condition. Credit ratings are subject to ongoing
evaluation by credit rating agencies and may be lowered, suspended or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency or placed
on a watch list” for a possible downgrade or assigned a negative outlook”. Although our indebtedness does not include

any triggers IIat would increase existing borrowing rates if there were a ratings downgrade, actual or anticipated changes
or downgrades, including any announcement that our ratings are under review for a downgrade or have been assigned a

15



negative outlook, could increase our future borrowing costs, which could in turn adversely affect our results of

operations, cash flows and ffinancial condition, and the trading price of our common stock. If a downgrade were to occur

or a negative outlook were to be assigned, it could impact our ability to access the capital markets to raise debt andlor

increase the associated costs. In addition, while our credit ratings are important to us, we may take actions and otherwise

operate our business in a manner that adversely affects our credit ratings.

GENERAL RISK

United States andglobal economic conditions could have adverse effects on the demandfor ourproducts and

fluancial results.

U.S. and global economic conditions and currency exchange rates have a significant impact on our business and ffinancial

results. Recessed global economic conditions and a strong U.S. dollar could affect our business in a number of ways,

including causing declines in global demand for consumer tissue and paperboard, and increased competition fflom

foreign manufacturers in the U.S. market.

We mayfail to attract, motivate, train and retain qualifiedpersonnel, including key personneL

Our ability to eLectively run our business depends on our ability to attract, motivate, train and retain employees with the

skills necessaty to understand and adapt to the competitive markets in which we operate. The increasing demand for

qualifled personnel makes it more difficult for us to attract and retain employees wiII requisite skill sets, particularly

employees with specialized technical and trade experience, and can increase our operating and overhead costs. Changing

demographics and labor work force trends also may result in a loss of knowledge and skills as experienced workers

retire. Ifwe fail to attract, motivate, train and retain qualified personnel, or ifwe experience excessive turnover, we may

experience declining sales, manufacturing delays or other inefficiencies, increased recruiting, training and relocation

costs and other difficulties, which may negatively impact our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

In addition, we rely on key executive and management personnel to manage our business efficiently and effectively. The

loss of any of our key personnel could adversely aLect our results of operations, cash flows atid financial condition.

Effective succession planning is also important to our long-term success. Our failure to identif’ candidates with the

leadership skills to manage our organization, and our failure to ensure effective transfers of knowledge and smooth

transitions involving key executives, could hinder our strategic planning and execution. .

Certainprovisions ofour certificate ofincorporation and bylaws andDelaware law may make itdfflcultfor
stockholders to change the composition ofour Board ofDirectors and may discourage hostile takeover. attempts that

some ofour stockholders may consider to be beneficiaL

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may have the effect of delaying or

preventing changes in control if our Board of Directors determines that such changes in control are not in the best

interests of the company and our stockliolders. The provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include,

among other things, the following:

a classified Board ofDirectors with three-year staggered terms;

. the ability of our Board ofDirectors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other

terms, including preferences and voting rights, of those shares without stockholder approval;

. stockholder action can only be taken at a special or regular meeting and not by written consent;

. advance notice procedures for nominating candidates to our Board of Directors or presenting matters at

stockholder meetings;

removal of directors only for cause

allowing only our Board of Directors to fill vacancies on our Board of Directors; and

supermajority voting requirements to amend our bylaws and certain provisions of our certifficate of

incorporation.
,

While these provisions have the eLect of encouraging persons seeking to acquire control of the company to negotiate
with our Board ofDirectors, they could enable the Board of Directors to hinder or frustrate a transaction that some, or a

majority, of the stockholders might believe to be in their best interests and, in that case, may prevent or discourage

attempts to remove and replace incumbent directors. We are also subject to Delaware laws that could have similar

eLects. One ofthese laws prohibits us from engaging in a business combination with a signifficant stockholder unless
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specific conditions are met.

ITEM lB. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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ITEM 2. Properties
.

Facilities .

.

.

.

Our principal executive offfices are located in Spokane, Washington. We believe that each ofthese facilities is adequately
maintained and is suitable for conducting our operations and business. Information regarding our principal facilities is set

forth in the following table.
. .

.

Location Products Owned or Leased

Las Vegas, Nevada TAD tissue, Tissue converting Owned
,

Lewiston, Idaho Tissue, Tissue converting, Pulp and Paperboard Owned

INeenah, Wisconsin
‘

Tissue, Tissue converting Owned

Shelby, North Carolina TAD tissue, NTT Tissue, Tissue converting Owned/Leased

[Elwood, Illinois
.

‘

Tissue converting Leased j
Cypress Bend, Arkansas Pulp and Paperboard Owned

Mendon, Michigan Paperboard sheeting Leased ‘

Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania Paperboard sheeting Leased

EDallas, Texas Paperboard sheeting . Leased

Richmond, Virginia Paperboard sheeting . Leased

Hagerstown, Indiana Paperboard sheeting Leased ]
Columbia City, Oregon Chip shipment Leased

.

Clarkston, Washington Wood chipping Owned

Production Capacities
.

Information regarding currently operating production capacities is based on annual, normal operating rates and normal

production mixes under current market conditions, taking into account known constraints. Market conditions,
fluctuations in raw material supply, environmental restrictions and IIe nature of current orders may cause actual

production rates and mixes to vary significantly fflom the production rates and mixes shown.

Tissue
‘

. Sheeted

(In tons) . Tissue converting Pulp . Paperboard Paperboard

Las Vegas, Nevada
‘

39,000 64,000 .

‘

Lewiston, Idaho 190,000 90,000 590,000 480,000

Neenah, Wisconsin ‘

‘

54,000
,

70,000 .

,

Shelby, North Carolina 152,000 141,000 .

Elwood, Illinois 60,300

Cypress Bend, Arkansas
‘

314,000 360,000

Mendon, Michigan , 50,000

Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania
‘

‘ .

. 40,000

Dallas, Texas
.

. 36,000]
,

Richmond, Virginia
.

,
35,000

Hagerstown, Indiana ,

‘

32,000

435,000 425,300 904,000 840,000
‘

193,000
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
.

We may ifiom time to time be involved in claims, proceedings and litigation arising fflorn our business and property

ownership. We believe, based on currently available information, that the results of such proceedings, in the aggregate,

will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
:

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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.

Part II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters

and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
.

:

MARKET FOR OUR COMMON STOCK
.

.

.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CLW.”

HOLDERS

As ofFebruary 23, 2021, there were approximately open.registered holders of our common stock.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF. EQUITY SECURITIES

.

On December 15, 2015, we announced that our Board of Directors had approved a stock repurchase program authorizing
the repurchase of up to $100 million of our common stock. As of December 31, 2020, we had up to $29.8 million of

authorization remaining. The repurchase program authorizes purchases of our common stock from time to time through

open market purchases, negotiated transactions or other means, including accelerated stock repurchases and 10b5-1

trading plans in accordance with applicable securities laws and other restrictions. We have no obligation to repurchase
stock under this program and may suspend or terminate the program at any time.

,

SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

None.

DIVIDENDS

We have not paid any cash dividends arid do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in 2021. We will continue to review

whether payment of a cash dividend on our common stock in IIe future best serves IIe company and our stockholders.

The declaration and amount of any dividends, however, would be determined by our Board ofDirectors and would

depend on our earnings, our compliance wiII the terms of our notes and revolving credit facilities that contain certain

restrictions on our ability to pay dividends, and any other factors that our Board ofDirectors believes are relevant.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH
,

.

The below graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return of our common stock for the period beginning

December31, 2015 and ending December31, 2020, with the cumulative total return during such period ofthe Russell

2000 Index, the S&P MidCap 400 Index (excluding those companies classiffied as members ofthe GICS Financials

sector) and the S&P 600 Small Cap Index. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on December31, 2015, in our

common stock and in IIe indices and assumes dividends were reinvested. The stock performance shown on the below

graph represents historical stock performance and is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

We measure ‘our relative corporate performance for purposes of performance-based equity awards issued to our executive

officers against a specific index. Each year, an index is established to apply to performance-based equity awards issued

in that year. We currently measure our relative performance, for purposes of performance- based equity awards, against
the S&P MidCap 400c Index (excluding those companies classiffied as members ofIIe GICS Financials sector) or the

S&P 600 Small Cap Index. The cumulative return for IIose indexes is listed below.

.
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Comparison of Cumulative Five Tear Total Returns

S200

$150

Si::

12/31/15 121311t 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/2

—ii-- Clearwater Paper Corporation —.— Russell 2000

S&P MidCap 400 Index — S&P 600Small Cap Index

This comparison assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2015, in our common stock and in the indices and

assumes dividends were reinvested.

Company Name/Index 12/31/15 12/31/16 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20

ClearwaterPaperCorporation $ 100.00 $ 143.97 $ 99.71 $ 53.53 $ 46.91 $ 82.91

Russell 2000 Index $ 100.00 $ 121.31 $ 139.08 $ 123.76 $ 155.35 $ 186.36

S&P MidCap 400 Index (excludina
members of the GICS Financials sector) $ 100.00 $ 117.80 $ 137.20 $ 119.06 $ 150.71 $ 168.84

S&P 600 SmaliCap Index $ 100.00 $ 126.56 $ 143.30 $ 131.15 $ 161.03 $ 179.20

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Information

On January 21, 2021, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued the ffinal rule related to amendments to modernize,

simplif,’, and enhance certain financial disclosure requirements in Regulation S—K. Speciffically, the requirement for

Selected Financial Data has been eliminated. We have evaluated the impact of the final rule and early adopted the

amendment. As a result, selected consolidated ffinancial data disclosures have been removed.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations
Thefollowing discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidatedfinancial statements

and related notes that appear elsewhere in this report. This discussion containsforward-looking statements reflecting
our current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. :lclual results may differ materiallyfflom those discussed in

these forward-looking statements due to a number offactors, including those setforth in the section entitled Risk

Factors” and elsewhere in this report. .4 discussion ofthe earliest year may befound in Management’s Discussion and

Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results ofOperations in our Annual Report on Form 10-Kfiled on March 9, 2020.

OVERVIEW

Impact of COVID-19

During 2020, we actively addressed the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our business and operations. We believe

that the actions we took in 2020 in response to the pandemic will position us well for long-term growth. However, we

cannot reasonably estimate the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or its ultimate impact on the global

economy, our business and results and the markets in which we operate.

We experienced increased volatility in demand in 2020 for some of our products as consumers adapted to the evolving
environment. Beginning in the ffirst quarter of 2020, demand across our consumer tissue products (Consumer Products

segment) increased as consumers increased home inventory levels in response to (‘OVID-19. We expect the increase to

be followed by periods of potential demand soifiness and volatility as consumers use existing home inventories and

demand potentially returns to more normal levels.

Executive Summary

For the year ended 2020, we reported net sales of$1.9 billion, up from $1.8 billion reported for the year ended 2019. We

reported net income for the year of $77.1 million, or $4.61 per diluted share, compared to a net loss of $5.6 million or

$0.34 per diluted share in 2019. Adjusted EBITDA was $283.2 compared to $167.3 million reported in 2019. Increases

in Adjusted EBITDA for 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily driven by a signifficantly higher sales volume for

retail tissue as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Increased demand resulted in increased production which in turn

drove increased ffixed cost absorption and improved margins. The pulp and paperboard business also beneffited on a

comparative basis due to the absence of major maintenance in our pulp and paperboard operations. See discussion on

segment level results regarding sales, operating results and Adjusted EBITDA in Our Operating Results” below. See

Note 17 “Segment Information” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report for

further information.

Drivers

Tissue Industry Overview

The U.S. tissue market can be divided into two market segments: the at-home or consumer retail purchase segment,

which represented about 72% of 2020 U.S. tissue market sales and away-from-home segment, representing the

remaining 28% of U.S. tissue market sales and includes tissue for locations such as restaurants, hotels and offfice

buildings (according to Fastmarkets RISI(RISI) Outlook for World Tissue Business, September 2020).

The U.S. at-home tissue segment consists of bath, paper towels, facial and napkin products categories. Each category is

further distinguished according to quality segments: ultra, premium, value and economy. As a result of manufacturing

process improvements and consumer preferences, the majority of at-home tissue sold in the United States is ultra and

premium quality. At-home tissue producers are comprised of companies that manufacture branded tissue products,

private label tissue products, or both. Branded tissue suppliers manufacture, market and sell tissue products under their

own nationally branded labels. Private label tissue producers manufacture tissue products for retailers to sell as their

store brand. The following charts, with data from RISI, provides a breakdown of private brand versus branded offerings
and product mix for the at-home industry:
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2020 Private Brand versus Brands 2020 US At-Home Tissue Industry
Product Mix

32% 7%

35% J 51%

68% 7%

• Bath Tissue U Facial Tissue

I Private Brand U Brands Paper Towels U Napkins

Source: RISI, Outlook for Worlds Tissue Business, September 2020. in dollars

In the U.S., at-home tissue is primarily sold through grocery stores, mass merchants, warehouse clubs, drug stores and

discount dollar stores. Tissue has experienced steady demand growth largely due to population growth in the United

States. In addition to economic and demographic drivers, tissue demand is affected by product innovations and shiifis in

distribution channels.

The U.S. tissue industry has experienced an increase in ultra and premium tissue products as industry participants have

added or improved through-air-dried, or TAD, or equivalent production capacity as well as added conventional tissue

capacity. Demand for consumer tissue products has experienced a signifficant increase for at-home tissue products in

2020 primarily driven by IIe COVID-19 pandemic which resulted in a shiifi of tissue consumption fflom away-fflom
home to at-home . As consumers return to pre-COVID away fflom home activities, we expect this demand for tissue to

normalize and approach pre-COVID-19 levels.

Paperboard Industry Overview

SBS paperboard is a premium paperboard grade that is most fflequently used to produce folding cartons, liquid

packaging, cups and plates, blister and carded packaging, top sheet and commercial printing items. SBS paperboard is

used for such products because it is manufactured using virgin ffiber combined with the kraifi bleaching process, which

results in superior cleanliness, brightness and consistency. SBS paperboard is oifien manufactured with a clay coating to

provide superior surface printing qualities.

In general, the process of making paperboard begins by chemically cooking wood ffibers to make pulp. The pulp is

bleached to provide a white, bright pulp, which is formed into paperboard. Bleached pulp that is to be used as market

pulp is dried and baled on a pulp drying machine, bypassing the paperboard machines. The various grades of paperboard
are wound into rolls for converting to ffinal end users. Liquid packaging and cup stock grades are oifien coated with

polyethylene, a plastic coating, in a separate operation to create a resistant and durable liquid barrier. The chart below

illustrates the North American Paperboard production by type (as reported by RISI North American Capacity report as of

September 2020):

North America Bleached Paperboard
Production by Type -2020

U Cup and plate

250/
26% U Folding carton

0

Liquid packaging
U Other

Source: RISI NA Capacity Report as of September 2020 with adjustments based upon RISI announced closures and curtailments, in tons.
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Folding Carton Category.Folding carton is the largest portion of the SBS category of the North America paperboard
industry. Within the folding carton segment, there are varying qualities of SBS paperboard, as well as competing

paperboard substrates that can be substituted for SBS. The high end ofthe folding carton category requires a premium

print surface and includes uses such as packaging for pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and other premium retail goods. SBS

paperboard is also used in the packaging of frozen foods, beverages and baked goods.

Liquid Packaging. Liquid packaging paperboard is used in rigid containers including juice, milk and wine sold in

supermarket retail channels

Cup and P/ate Category. Cup and plate category is primarily converted into packaging for premium ice cream, hot and

cold cups used in quick service channels and commodity focus plates.

Other. Other applications include carded packaging for blister board alternatives (ie. batteries and lip stick) and bleached

bristols which are used to produce premium printing heavyweight papers grades used in commercial application. Bristols

can be clay coated on one side or both sides for applications such as brochures, presentation folders and paperback book

covers.

The paperboard industry is affected by macro-economic conditions around the world and has historically experienced

cyclical market conditions. As a result, historical prices for products and sales volumes have been volatile. Product

pricing is signifficantly affected by the relationship between supply and demand for our products. Product supply in the

industry is influenced primarily by fluctuations in available manufacturing production, which tends to increase during

periods when prices remain strong. In 2020, demand for paperboard products has been affected by the COVID-19

pandemic, with increases in some end-market segments like food packaging and decreases in food service and

commercial print.

Critical Accounting Policies and Signifficant Estimates

A discussion of our signifficant accounting policies and signifficant accounting estimates and judgments is presented in

Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this report. Throughout the preparation of the

ffinancial statements, we employ signifficant judgments in the application of accounting principles and methods. We

believe that the accounting estimates discussed below represent the accounting estimates requiring the exercise of

judgment where a different set ofjudgments could result in the greatest changes to reported results. We reviewed the

development, selection and disclosure of our critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of

Directors. For 2020, IIese significant accounting estimates and judgments include:

Pension and Other Post Retirement Employee Beneffits

We have a number of pension plans in the United States covering many of our employees. Beneffit accruals under most of

our deffined beneffit pension plan in the United States were fflozen prior to January 2014.

We account for the consequences of our sponsorship of these plans using assumptions to calculate the related assets,

liabilities and expenses recorded in our flnancial statements. Net actuarial gains and losses occur when actual experience
differs fflom any of the assumptions used to value deffined beneffit plans or when assumptions change as they may each

year. The primary factors contributing to actuarial gains and losses are changes in the discount rate used to value

obligations as of the measurement date and the differences between expected and actual returns on pension plan assets.

This accounting method results in the potential for volatile and difflcult to forecast gains and losses.

We record amounts relating to these deffined benefit plans based on various actuarial assumptions, including discount

rates, assumed rates of return, compensation increases and life expectancy. We review our actuarial assumptions on an

annual basis and make modiffications to the assumptions based on current economic conditions and trends. We believe

that the assumptions utilized in recording our obligations under our plans are reasonable based on our experience and on

advice from our independent actuaries; however, differences in actual experience or changes in the assumptions may

materially affect our flnancial condition or results of operations.

The following table illustrates the estimated impact on hypothetical pension obligations and expenses that would have

resulted from a 25 basis point reduction in two key assumptions (in millions):

Statement of

(in millions) Operations Balance Sheet Impact

Discount rate $ 0.5 $ 9.6

Expected long term rate of return $ 0.7 $
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It isnot possible to forecast or predict whether there will be actuarial gains and losses in future periods, and if required,
the magnitude of any such adjustment. These gains and losses are driven by differences in actual experience or changes
in the assumptions that are beyond our control, such as changes in interest rates and the actual return on pension plan
assets.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
.

In evaluating our business, we utilize several non-GAAP flnancial measures. A non-GAAP financial measure is

generally defined by IIe SEC as one that purports to measure historical or future flnaricial performance, financial

position or cash flows, but excludes or includes amounts that would not be so excluded or included under applicable
GAAP guidance. In IIis report on Form 10-K, we disclose overall and segment earnings (loss) from op&ations before

interest expense, net, non-operating pension and other post employment beneffit costs, taxes, depreciation and

amortization, goodwill impairment, other operating charges, net, and debt retirement costs as Adjusted EBITDA which is

a non-GAAP financial measure. Adjusted EBITDA is not a substitute for the GAAP measure of net income or for any

oIIer GAAP measures of operating performance. .

.

We have included Adjusted EBITDA on a consolidated and business segment basis in this report because we use it as

important supplemental measures of our performance and believe that it is frequently used by securities analysts,
investors and oIIer interested persons in the evaluation of companies in our industry, some ofwhich present Adjusted
EBITDA when reporting their results. We use Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate oir performance as compared to other

companies in our industiy IIat have different financing and capital structures and/or tax rates. It should be noted that

companies calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently and, therefore, our Adjusted EBITDA measures may not be

comparable to Adjusted EBITDA reported by other companies. Our Adjusted EBITDA measures have material

limitations as performance measures because IIey exclude interest expense, income tax (benefit) expense and

depreciation and amortization which are necessary to operate our business or which we otherwise incur or experience in

connection with IIe operation of our business. In addition, we exclude other income and expense items which are

outside of our core operations.
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The following table provides our Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation for the last three years:

(In millions)

Year ended December 31, 2020 2019 2018

[Net income (loss) $ 77.1 $ (5.6) $ (143.8)]
Income tax provision (beneffit) 21.1 (2.3) 10.3

[Interest expense, net 46.5 44.9 30.71
Debt retirement costs

:

59 2.7 —

[Depreciation and amortization expense 111.0 115.6 101.9]
Goodwill impaitment

.

— — 195.1

Other operating charges, net
,

.

14.0 6.3 (17.5)]
OIIer non-operating expense 7.6 5.7 4.9

[Adjusted EBITDA $ 283.2 $ 167.3 $ 181.61

Consumer Products segment income (loss)

.

$ 109.2 $ (6.6) $ 0.3

Depreciation and amortization . 68.5 69.7 57.8

[Adjusted EBITDA Consumer Products segment $ 177.7 $ 63.1 $ 58.1 1

Pulp and Paperboard segment income $ 126.0 $ 115.3 $ 130.9

Depreciation and amortization
.

36.7 39.4 37.8
‘

[Adjusted EBITDA Pulp and Paperboard segment $ 162.6 S 154.7 $ 168.7 I

[Corporate and other expense $ (63.0) $ (57.0) $ (5 1.5)1
Depreciation and amortization 5.8 6.5 6.3

[Adjusted EBITDA Corporate and other $ (57.2) $ (50.5) $ (45.2)1

[onsumer Products segment
.

‘

$ 177.7 $ 63.1 $ 58.1

Pulp and Paperboard segment 162.6 154.7 168.7

[Corporate and other ,

(57.2) (50.5) (45.2)]
Adjusted EBITDA $ 283.2 $ 167.3 $ 181.6
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OUR OPERATING RESULTS

Consumer Products Segment

Our Consumer Products segment sells and manufacturers a complete line of at-home tissue products and minor amounts

of away from home products. Our integrated manufacturing and converting operations and geographic footprint enable

us to deliver a broad range of cost-competitive products with brand equivalent quality to our custoIIers.

Segment sales, operating income and Adjusted EBITDA for IIe Consumer Products segment were as follows:

(Dollars in millions, except per unit) Increase (decrease)

2020-2019 2019-2018 II YearendedDecember3l, 2020 2019 2018

Sales:

Retail tissue 5 975.8 $ 845.6 5 794.4 15.4 % 6.4 %]
Non-retail tissue 41.1 56.5 88.2

. (27.3)% (35.9)%

Other

$

15.8

1,032.7 $

4.8

906.8 $

2.2

884.8

231.2 %

13.9 %

113.6

2.5 %

Operating income (loss) $ 109.2 (6.6) 0.3 nm nm

Operating margin 10.6 % (0.7)% — %

Adjusted EBITDA S 177.7 $ 63.1 S 58.1 181.4 %

-
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 17.2 % 7.0 % 6.6 %

Shipments (short tons):

Retail tissue 355,862 308,805 293,856 15.2 % 5.1

Non-retail tissue 25,111 32,164 58,577 (21.9)% (45.1)%

Cases (in thousands) 59,596 51,260 48,699 16.3 % 5.3 %

Sales price (short tons):

Retail tissue $ 2,742 $ 2,738 $ 2,703 0.1 % 1.3

Non-retail tissue S 1,636 $ 1,756 $ 1,506 (6.8)% 16.6 %

Sales volumes increased in our Consumer Products segment for 2020 compared to 2019 due to signifficantly higher sales

volume for retail tissue as a result of the COVID- 19 pandemic and increases in demand based upon new customer
.

programs which were implemented prior to IIe COVID-19 pandemic. Sales prices changed in our Consumer Products

segment for 2020 compared to the same period in the prior year due primarily to changes in product mix. From a product

perspective, for 2020 compared to 2019, we saw the largest increases in baII tissue. As a percentage of our Consumer

Products segment, baII tissue and paper towels combined represent more IIan 80% of our business. We have seen a

signifficant reduction in our non-retail business due to the COVID-19 pandemic which was driven by lower away-from
home products and decreases in contract manufacturing and parent roll sales. .

Overall, IIe increase in operating income and Adjusted EBITDA for 2020 compared to 2019 was driven by higher sales

as noted above as well as improvement in margin due to increased production that drove increased ffixed cost absorption.

Additionally, we realized lower input costs, primarily in external pulp prices and ffleight costs.
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Pulp and Paperboard Segment

Our Pulp and Paperboard segment markets and produces bleached paperboard to quality-conscious printers and

packaging converters, andoffers services that include custom sheeting, slitting and cutting.

Segment sales, operating income and Adjusted EBITDA for the Pulp and Paperboard segment were as follows:

(Dollars in millions, except per unit) Increase (decrease) ]
Year ended December 31, 2020 2019 2018 2020-2019 2019-2018

Sales:

Paperboard S 828.3 $ 846.7 $ 835.5 (2.2)% 1.3 %

Other

S

7.6

835.9 5

7.9

854.7 $

3.9

839.4

(4.0)%

(2.2)%

320.0 %
1.8 %

Operating income S 126.0 5 115.3 $ 130.9 9.2% (1l.9)%

Operating margin 15.1 % 13.5 % 15.6 % 1

Adjusted EBITDA $ 162.6 5 154.7 $ 168.7 5.1 % (8.3)%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 19.5 % 18.1 % 20.1 %

I

Shipments (short tons) 821,415 827,913 835,3?2 (0.8)% (0.9)%

Sales price (short tons) $ 1,008 $ 1,023 5 1,000 (1.4)% 2.3 %

Sales volumes decreased in our Pulp and Paperboard segment for 2020 compared to 2019 due to impacts of COVID- 19

which led to a reduction in our commodity food service business offset by increases in our folding carton and coated cup

business. Sales prices decreased in our Pulp and Paperboard segment for 2020 compared to 2019 due to the impacts of

mix and some price reductions. During 2019, the Pulp and Paperboard segment completed its planned major
maintenance which resulted in higher operating costs during that year.

Overall, the increase in operating income and Adjusted EBITDA for 2020 as compared to 2019 was driven by reduced

sales offset by improved input costs, primarily consisting of natural gas, wood and pulp and absence ofplanned major
maintenance.

Corporate expenses

Corporate expenses were $63.0 million in 2020 as compared to $57.0 million in 2019. The increase for the year ended

2020 as compared to 2019 was related to higher incentive pay due to improved results and increased costs associated

with professional services. Corporate expenses primarily consist of corporate overhead such as wages and beneffits,

professional fees, insurance and oIIer expenses for corporate functions including certain executive offficers, public
company costs, information technology, ffinancial services, environmental and safety, legal, supply management, human

resources and other corporate functions not directly associated wiII IIe business operations.

Other operating charges
.

See Note 10 “Other Operating Charges, net” of the Notes to IIe Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of

this report for additional information.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense for IIe year ended December31, 2020 compared to December31, 2019 was $1.6 million higher due to

the absence of capitalized interest due to the completion ofour Shelby expansion in the latter portion of 2019. See Note

11 “Non-operating income (expense)” of the Notes to IIe Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of IIis

report for additional information.
.

Potential impairments

We review fflom time to time possible dispositions or reorganization ofvarious assets in light of current and anticipated
economic and industry conditions, our strategic plan and other relevant factors. Because a determination to

dispose or reorganize particular assets may require management to make assumptions regarding the transaction structure
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ofthe disposition or reorganization and to estimate the net sales proceeds, which may be less than previous estimates of

undiscounted future net cash flows, we may be required to record impairment charges in connection with decisions to

dispose of assets.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview
.

.

,

.

Our principal sources of liquidity are existing cash, cash generated by our operations and our ability to borrow under

such credit facilities as we may have in effect from time to time. At times, we may also issue equity, debt or hybrid
securities or engage in oIIer capital market transactions. Due to IIe competitive and cyclical nature ofthe markets in

which we operate, there is uncertainty regarding the amount of cash flows we will generate during the next twelve

months. However, we believe that our cash flows from operations, our cash on hand and our borrowing capacity under

our credit agreements will be adequate to fund debt service requirements and provide cash to support our ongoing

operations, capital expenditures and working capital needs for IIe next twelve months.

Our principal uses of liquidity are paying the costs and expenses associated with our operations, servicing outstanding
indebtedness and making capital expenditures. We may also fflom time to time prepay or repurchase outstanding
indebtedness or shares or acquire assets or businesses that are complementaiy to our operations. Any such repurchases

may be commenced, suspended, discontinued or resumed, and the method or methods of effecting any such repurchases

may be changed at any time or fflom time to time without prior notice.
,

Operating Activities

During 2020, we generated $247.0 million of cash fflom operations, as compared to $55.6 million in 2019. This increase

was driven by increases in our net income and changes in working capital due to increased demand in our consumer

products division which resulted in lower inventories. Accounts receivable and accounts payable agings have remained

relatively consistent with balances as ofDecember 31, 2019.

Investing Activities

During 2020, we used $39.6 million in cash from investing activities, as compared to $140.1 for capital expenditures

during 20 19.This decrease is primarily ‘due to the completion of our Shelby expansion in late 2019. Included in accounts

payable and accrued liabilities was, $5.5 million and $6.6 million related to capital expenditures IIat had not yet been

paid at December 31, 2020. . .

Financing Activities

.

Net cash flows used in financing activities were $192.9 million for 2020 as compared to net cash flows provided by

financing activities of $82.0 million for 2019. The change was driven by improved operating results and lower capital’

expenditures, resulting in additional available cash to fund debt repayments in the year ended December 31, 2020.
‘

,

Commitments

As of December 31, 2020, we have purchase commitments of $76.0 million related to contracts for the purchase of

chemicals, pulp and contracts with natural gas and electricity providers IIat are legally binding on us and specify fixed or

minimum quantities. Additionally, we have $17.4 million in purchase commitment associated with capital expenditures.

Capital Expenditures

In addition to ongoing maintenance and repair costs, we make capital expenditures to increase our operating capacity and

effciency, improve safety at our facilities and comply with environmental laws. Our strategic projects are intended to

grow our business to meet customer demands and to reduce future manufacturing costs and provide a positive return on

investment. In 2021, we expect cash paid for capital expenditures to be approximately $60 million to $65 million.
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Credit Agreements .

We must make mandatory prepayments of principal under the Term Loan Credit Agreement upon the occurrence of

certain specified events, including based upon a percentage of atmual Excess Cash Flow we generate which can fluctuate

depending on our Senior Secured Leverage Ratio (as those terms are defined in IIe Term Loan Credit Agreement). For

instance, if our Senior Secured Leverage Ratio on IIe last day of a fiscal year is below 1 .50x, we are not subject to an

Excess Cash Flow mandatory prepayment. There is uncertainty in the amount ofExcess Cash Flow IIat we may generate

during the current fiscal year, therefore, we are unable to estimate the mandatory prepayment under IIe Term Loan

Credit Agreement that could be required at the time such payment is due in 2022. During the year ended December 31,

2020, we prepaid $170 million of principal under IIe Term Loan Credit Agreement which offsets the mandatory

prepayment that would otherwise have been required in 2021. Amounts repaid or prepaid cannot be reborrowed.

However, we may add one or more incremental term loan facilities to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, subject to

obtaining commitments fflom any participating lenders and certain oIIer conditions, so long as our first lien secured

leverage ratio does not exceed 2.OOx to 1 .OOx. At December 31, 2020, our first lien secured leverage ratio was 0.39x.

The ABL Credit Agreement includes a $250 million revolving loan commitment, subject to borrowing base limitations.

Borrowings under IIe ABL Credit Agreement are subject to mandatory prepayment in certain circumstances. We may

also increase commitments under the ABL Credit Agreement in an aggregate principal amount ofup to $100 million,

subject to obtaining commitments fflom any participating lenders and certain other conditions.

BoII credit agreements contain certain customary representations, warranties, and affirmative and negative covenants.

The ABL Credit Agreement also contains a financial covenant, which requires us to maintain a consolidated fixed charge

coverage ratio of not less than 1.1 Ox to 1 ;OOx, provided that the financial covenant under IIe ABL Credit Agreement is
‘

only applicable when availability falls below $25 million.
.

At December 31, 2020, we were in compliance with the Credit Agreements, and based on our current financial

projections, we expect to remain in compliance. However, if our financial position, results of operations or market

conditions deteriorate, we may not be able to remain in compliance. There can be no assurance IIat we will be able to

remain in compliance wiII our Credit Agreements. If we are unable to do so, it would be necessary to seek an

amendment fflom our lenders, which, if obtained, could require payment of additional fees, increased interest rates or

oIIer conditions or restrictions. See Note 8, “Debt’ to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in IIis

report for additional discussion of our Credit Agreements.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

Interest Rate Risk. .

Our exposure to market risks on ffinancial instruments includes interest rate risk on our Term Loan and ABL Credit

Agreements. As ofDecember 31, 2020, there were $129.3 million in borrowings outstanding under our Credit

Agreements. The interest rates applied to our Credit Agreements are adjusted oifien and therefore react quickly to any

movement inthe general trend of market interest rates. A one percentage point increase or decrease in interest rates,

based on assumed outstanding borrowings of$129.3 million, would have a $1.3 million annual eLect on interest

expense.
. .

Foreign Currency Risk
.

We have minimal foreign currency exchange risk. Nearly all of our international sales are denominated in U.S. dollars.

Quantitative Information about Market Risks
.

Expected Maturity Date

2024 2025(In millions) 2021 2022 2023 Thercaifier Total

[Long-term debt:

Fixed rate $ — $ — $ — $ — $300.0 $275.0 $575.0

[ Variable rate $ — $ — $ — $ — $— $129.3 $129.3

Revolving credit facility $ $ $ $ — $_ $— $—

Average interest rate — % — % — % — % 5.38 % 4.00 % 4.46 %]
Fair value at December 31, 2020 $ 740.0
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors

Clearwater Paper Corporation:
-

-

:

Opinion on the ConsolidatedFinancial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Clearwater Paper Corporation and subsidiaries (the

Company) as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December31, 2020, and IIe

related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the

results of its operations and its cash flows for each ofthe years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, in

conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
-

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as ofDecember 31, 2020, based on criteria

established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission, and our report-dated Februaiy 25, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on IIe

effectiveness ofthe Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Principle
-

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for

leases as of January 1, 2019 due to the adoption ofAccounting Standards Codification Topic 842 — Leases.

Basisfor Opinion
-

- -

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm

registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.

federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations ofIIe Securities and Exchange Commission and the

PCAOB.
- -

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Th6se standards require that we plan and

perform IIe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material

misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material

misstatement ofthe consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that

respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe consolidated

financial statements. We believe IIat our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated

financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates

to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially

challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way

our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical

audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it

relates.

Measurement ofthe pension benefit obligation

As discussed in Notes 1 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s pension benefit

obligation was $334.9 million as of December31, 2020. The Company records amounts relating to these

deffined benefit plans based on actuarial methods and -assumptions, such as the discount rate.

We identified the evaluation of the measurement ofthe pension benefit obligation as a critical audit matter.
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Specialized skills and knowledge were required to understand the actuarial methods and evaluate the discount

rate used to determine the pension benefit obligation. In addition, there was subjective judgment in applying and

evaluating results of the procedures due to the sensitivity of the pension benefit obligation to changes in the

discount rate.
.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated IIe

design and tested IIe operating effectiveness of certain controls over the Company’s pension benefit process.

This included controls related to the selection of the actuarial methods and determination of the discount rate

assumption. We considered the change in IIe discount rate fflom that used in the prior year, including
consideration of the changes in the discount rate in light of published reports of actuarial experts.

We involved an actuarial professional wiII specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

assessing the actuarial methods used to determine the pension benefit obligation for consistency with

generally accepted actuarial standards; and .

. evaluating the discount rate as determined using IIe hypothetical bond portfolio model through

analyzing IIe bond selection criteria, IIe bond ratings, and IIe cash flow matching ofthe model.

/si KPMG LLP

.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2007.

Seattle, Washington

February 25, 2021
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CLEARWATER PAPER CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in millions, except share information) 2020 2019

fASSETS
Current assets:

[ Cash and cash equivalents S 35.9 $ 20.0

Restricted cash — 1.4

r Receivables, net of allowance for current expected credit losses of $1.6 and $1.5 at

L December 31, 2020 and 2019 160.6 159.4

Inventories 263.3 281.4

I Other current assets 15.2 3.61
Total current assets 474.9 465.8

[perty, plant and equipment, net 1,191 5 1,257 7]
Operating lease right-of-use assets 63.5 73.1

Goodwill and intangible assets, net 48.8 52.0

Other assets, net 21.7 29.1

OTAL ASSETS 5 1,800.4 5 1,877.71

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt 5 1.7 $ 17.9

Trade payables 143.4 159.5

Accrued compensation 41.7 42.3

Other accrued liabilities 58.0 60.7 I
Total current liabilities 244.8 280.4

[g-term debt 716.4 884.5]
Long-term operating lease liabilities 54.3 65.6

Liabihty fbr pension and othei postl etirement employee beneffits 80 5 76 6]
Other long-term obligations 25.2 17.3

rDeferred tax liabilities 158.1 121.3

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,279.3 1,445.7

Stockholders’ equity:
.

Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 5,000,000 shares auIIorized,
no shares issued — —

Common stock, par value 50.0001 per share, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
16,573,246 and 16,515,813 shares issued — —

Additional paid-in capital 16.6 9.8

[ Retained earnings .

558.8 481.7

Accumulated oIIer comprehensive loss, net of tax (54.3) (59.5)
Total stockholders’ equity 521.1 432.0 1
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated ffinancial statements.

$ 1,800.4 $ 1,877.7

At December 31,
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CLEARWATER PAPER CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Operations

For The Years Ended December 31,

2019(In millions, except per share data) 2020 2018

INet sales .

S 1,868.6 $ 1,761.5 5 1,724.2

Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 1,574.4 , 1,597.0 1,536.7

Selling, general and administrative expenses 122.0 112.8 107.8

Other operating charges, net 14.0 6.3 (17.5)
Goodwill impairment — — 195.1

Total operating costs and expenses 1,710.4 1,716.1 1,822.1

Income (loss) from operations 158.1 45.4 . (97.9)
Interest expense, net (46.5) (44.9) (30.7)]
OIIer non-operating expense. (7.6) (5.7)

,
(4.9)

Debt retirement costs (5.9) (2.7) —

Income (loss) before income taxes ‘ 98.2 (7.9) (133.5)

[Income tax provision (benefit)
, ,

21.1 (2.3) , 10.3]
Net income (loss) ,

. S 77.1 5
‘

(5.6) 5 (143.8)

]
Net income (loss) per common share:

[ Basic
,

$ 4.65 $
‘

(0.34) 5 (8.72)1
Diluted . $ 4.61 $ (0.34) 5 (8.72)

Average shares of common stock used to compute net income

(loss) per share: (in thousands)
..

‘

Basic 16,569
‘

16,533 16,4871’
Diluted 16,724 16,533 16,487

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated ffinancial statements.
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CLEARWATER PAPER CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

.

For The Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2020 2019 2018

Net income (loss) $ 77.1 $ (5.6) $ (1438)1
OIIer comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

.

.

Deffined beneffit pension and other post retirement employee beneffits: I
Net (loss) gain arising during the period, net of tax

of$(0.7), $0.9 and $(5.7) (2.1) 2.7 (16.0)

Amortization of actuarial loss included in net periodic cost, I
net oftax of $2.5, $1.9 and $2.4 7.3 5.1 6.8

Amortization of prior service credit included in net
.

periodic cost, net oftax of $—, $—, and $(0.4) — — (1.3)

Other comprehensiveiicome (loss), net oftax 5.2 7.8 (10.5)J
Comprehensive income (loss) . $ 82.3 $ 2.2 $ (154.3)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CLEARWATER PAPER CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For The Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018(In millions)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES J
Net income (loss) S 77.1 $ (5.6) $ (143.8)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows provided by

[ operating activities: ,

.

Goodwill impairment
— — 195.1

[ Depreciation and amortization 111.0 115.6 101.91
Equity-based compensation expense 10.5 4.1 3.3

TJI Deferred taxes 33.5 (0.3)

Pension and other postretirement employee benefits 3.8 1.4 (0.6)
Debt retirement costs 5.9 2.7 —

Gain on divested assets, net (1.4) — (25.5)

[jnges in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 6.1 (18.0) 6.6

[ (Increase) decrease in inventory 18.1 (21.2) (8.1)1
(Increase) decrease in other current assets (11.2) (0.8) 6.4

18.9][ Increase (decrease) in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation

(16.5) (53.9)

(2.5) . 4.8 (0.9)

I Increase in oIIer accrued liabilities 7.0 20.7 7j
OIIer,net . 5.6 6.1

‘

1.2

[Net cash flows provided by operating activities 247.0 55.6 168.9

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
,

Additions to property, plant and equipment (39.6) (140.1) (295.7)]
Net proceeds fflom divested assets —

‘

— 70.9

Other, net — — 0.8 [
Net cash flows used in investing activities (39.6)

‘

(140.1) (224.0)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES .

Borrowings on short-term debt 108.5 549.3 630.8

[payments of borrowings on short-term debt
.

(122.0) (1657.7) (565.0)]
Proceeds from long-term debt, net 275.0 296.1 —

2ayment of long-term debt , (449.4) (103.0) —

Payments for debt issuance costs ‘(4.4) (2.3) (2.1)

[Other, net .

.

.

(0.7) (0.4) (0.4)1
Net cash flows (used in) provided by ffinancing activities (192.9) 82.0 63.3

[Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 14.4 (2.5) 8.2

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 22.4 24.9 16.7

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 36.9 S 22.4 $ 24.9

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION .

[Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized 5 45.0 5 38.4 $ 26.1]
Cash (received) paid for income taxes 5 (7.9) $ 3.1 $ (10.6)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated ffinancial statements.
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NOTE 1 Su mary of Si nif icant Ac ounting Poli

NA URE O  OPERAT ONS AND AS S OF PR SENTATIO

We are a pr mi r supp ier of ualit  consu er tissu , away-fr m-h me (AFH) issue, parent roll tiss e and bl ached
paperboar . W  supply rivate ab l tissue o ajor r tailers nd wholesa e istributors, incl ding gro ery  drug, ma

merchants a d d scoun  stores. In a dition, we sup ly bleach d paperb ard to quali

convert rs, and offer serv ces hat nclu e ust m she ting  slitti g nd cutt ng

Certai  re lassiff cations h ve been ad  to II  prior ye r amounts o conform o he c rrent ea  presentati

Unless IIe co text therwi e re uires or unl ss o herwi e ndicated, efere ces in this rep rt o “Clearwater

Cor or tion,” “w

USE OF ESTIMATE
The prepar ti n of ffinancia  st tements in onfo mity w II ccountin  princi le  gener lly accepted in the U.S. requi

ma agement to make e tim tes and ass mp ion  IIa  afec  the repor ed amounts of sse s and li bilitie  a d d sclos

of conti gent a set  and liab lities t the ate of he ff nancia  sta ement  and IIe r

expenses d ri g the reporti

PRINC PLES OF CONS

These conso ida ed financial-st tements inclu e I e ffinancial condition an  re ults of peratio s of Clear ater P

Cor oration and ts w olly-owned 

IIe C mpan  have been lim

CA H, CASH QUI ALENTS AND RE TRICTED CAS

We c nside  all igh y l quid instrum nt  wi h maturities of th ee months or l ss to be cash equiv len s. Cash I at is

by a third par y nd ha  res rictions on its availabili y to us is cl ss ffi d as re trict d ca h. he fol owing tale pr

reco ciliati n of as , c sh equivalen s and rest ic ed c sh rep

s

me amountss

. D cember31 

(In ill ons) . 2020 2019 2

Cash and c sh e
u

v len s

Restricted cash . — 1.4 

Restr cted ash ncluded in the  assets, n t 1.  .0 2 4

Total ca h, cash eq

ACCOUNTS RE EIVABLE

Receivab es 

Dcem
[ (in millions  . 2020 20

9

Trade acc unt  receiv ble , $ 39.0 $

Allowanc  for curren  ex ect

Ubille  receivabl s 5.  7.

[ Taxes eceivable 6 0 0

Iteres
 

e
eiv ble

[

O Ier , . 2.1 2

. 



INV

Our inve tor

Dec (In 2020

2 [

1

19.4 Pulp 11.5

2 [ 137.0

Mate 97.7

9

.

. , 2

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT -. 

Property  plan  and equipme t ar  stated at ost, includin  assets acqu re  under ffi ance leas  ob igati ns, and any
intere t osts capit lized  le s accumulated depreci tion. Dep eciati n of uildings, equip ent a d th r eprec abl

assets is det rm ne  u ing he traight-l ne etaod. Estim ted u ef l ives ene ally rang  if om 10 to 0 years f
i pioveme ts, 10 to 40 ySrs for

,
o

ffice an  ot

, , December (In 2020

2
[

L

. ! 111.5

Build 480.1

4 [

.

.

2

Cons 21.
9

2

,

,

‘

,

,

,

.

(1,881. )

1,191.

(1,781.

Depre iation xpe se, inclu ing a ounts assoc ated ith f nan e lea
e

$94.4 milli n for th  y ars end d ecem er31, 202 , 20 9, nd 2Q 8.

Capi al zed in erest is ch rged to ‘ nd mor ized o er II  lives o  II  rela ed ssets  F r the year nded Decembe  31

2020 we had o apitaliz d inter st, for th  yea ’a nded Decembe  3 , 2019, and 2018  w  cap talized $5.9 illion a
d

$9.0 mil ion of nterest ex ense associat d ith IIe const uctio  of a pa er IIac ine at ou

fa ility and the cont nu us pulp dig ster at ou  L wis on, Id ho facil ty i  2019 and 2 18.

We recog iz  the cost f main

REC VERY OF LO G-LIVE  AS

Our long lived ss ts are r vkw d f r mpairment wh ne er event  or changes in ci cu stanc s ind ca e IIat II
darryin  amou t f a  asset may not be recov rabl . We valu te recove abil ty of an ass t rou  by c mparin  i

canying val e to the utur  ne  undisco nted as  f ows t at we ex ect will be gene at d by the ss t group. I  IIe

con pariso  i dicates Iat I e ca ryi g value o  an sset g oup s ot recove ab e, we reco nize an mpairm nt lo s fo

the exces  o  carrying alu  over II  estima ed fai  vlue. hen we reco nize n impairm It los  for ssets to b
and sed  we epr ciat  II  adjust d ca yi g a ount of t ose a sets ove  IIe r re ai ing seful ife  Long-liv d a

that a e h ld fII s le are
w

i

excee  the carryi g value. , .

‘ess accum lated dep eciaiion a d a

[ roperty, pla t an  eq ipmen
At Dece ber 31  2 20 an  2019, ncl ded w thin bui

d

n

fi



GOODWILL AND NT NGIBLE ASSE
Goodwi l from an acquisiti n represnts he excess f the ost of a busine s acquir d over t e et mounts as ign d 

ass ts acquire , includ ng idntifi ab e nt ngib e sse s an  lia ilitie  assume . Goodwill is ot a ortized b t 

for impai men  annual y as f ove ber 1, as well as any t me hen even s uggest i pairmen  ma  have occ rred

IIe vent the anyin  v lue of the repo ting ni  in which ur goo will i  as igned e ceeds he est mated fai  val

that re ort ng u it, an i

ex eed  its fair va

We use es imates n dete mini g and ass gnin  IIe f irval e of II  useful liv s of intangible assets, th  amoun  an

timi g of elated future cash lows and fair val es of he r l te  o eratio s. Deffin te- ived intan ible a set  are amort
over their se ul live , hich have his orically rang d f om 5 to 0 year . W  as es  our intangi

whe  eve ts or change  in circumstan es indi ate IIat th  carrying a

See Not  5, “Good ill and Intang ble Asse s” for f

PE SIO  AND OTH R OST ETIREMENT EMPLOYE  BE

We are req ired to use act ari l methods and as umptions in the val ation o  defin d b nefit ob igation  a d other po

ret rement ob iga ions and th  de ermi ation f e pen e. DiLeren es between ct al a d exp cted results

t e values f th  obligatio s and pl
n a

. g adua ly ver subse uent pe iod . . .

See No e 12,

INCOME TAXES

Inc me tax s a e accounted or under the as et and liab lity me hod  Deferred ta  assets a d liabili ies are ecogniz d 

the futu e tax ons quences att ibu able o differen es etwee  th  consolid ted ina cia  state ent carrying a ounts of

existi g a sets and li bil ties and IIeir respect ve ax ba is and o er ting os  and ta  credi  c rry orwar s. Deferr d tax

assets an  liabilitie  ar  measure  u in  enacted ax rates ex ect d to a pl  to taxa le ncome n I e years in wh c  those
te por ry di fe ences are xp cted t  b  re overed or s ttled. T e e fect on d ferre

in ax rates is r co niz d in inco e i  the p riod hat incl des the enac ment date

The determinat on f our provi io  for in ome taxes requires siniffican  j dgment, he use of es ima es, an  II

in erpretatio  an  applic tion f c mpl x tax laws. Si nificant j dgment is req ired in as ess ng the t mi g and amo nts

of deduct ble and taxa le ite s and the pr bability f sustaini g un ertain tax positio s  The benefits of unc
posi ion  are reco ded in our co soli ated fina cial state en s on y af ier determining  mor -like y-t an-not probab

that th  u certain ax po itions will w ths and ch lle ge, if ny  fr m tax author ties. Whe  facts and ci

cha ge, e eassess IIese rob bilitie  and record 

See Not  6, “Income

T

RE ENUE ECOG

We enter int  contract  th t an inclu e various c mbinations o

distinc  a d accounte  f r as se ar te p rforma ce oblig ti

Revenu  is ecognize  at a point in ti e poifi ra sfer of co trol of rom sed p oducts o  s rvices to customer  i

amount th t refl cts he onsid rat on w  e pect to recei e i  exchange for thos  prod cts or se vices. T ansf r of ont

typ call  o curs when IIe tit e and r sk o  l ss p ssesto he cus omer. Ship ing terms ge er lly ndicate wh n tit

the risk of oss h ve passed, usua ly th s s upon re eipt at our custome ’s des inati n. We have e e ted to t eat sh

and handling cost  as aful lllment cos . We typical y expe se increment l irect os s of bt ining a ontract (sa

commissio s) w en incu red be au e IIe am rtization eri d is gene ally 12 mo th  or less. We main ain onsignme

inventor  at a li ited um er of c st mer locat ons  For cons gned invento y, we rec gnize re enue upon tr

co trol, w ich is of en in advan e of inv icin  the cust mer  Such amounts rep esent unb lled recei

We provide fo  tr de promo io s  customer ca h d scount  and ot er eductio s, hich are on idered v

conside at on nd ec rded as a redu tion o  n t sales. R turns and c edits a e estimate  at cont act in eption 

updated t he e d of each ep rti g peri d as ad it onal inf rmat o  becomes av ilable. ev nue  net of ret rns and

c

ed



occur. Judgment associated \viII forecasted volumes is required to determine the most probable amount ofvariable

consideration to apply as a reduction to net sales. Revenue is recognized net of any taxes collected from customers.

See to Note 17, “Segment Information” for furIIer information, including the disaggregation ofrevenue by segment,

primary geographical market, and major product type. .

OTHER OPERATING CHARGES, NET
.

We classify significant amounts unrelated to ongoing core operating activities as Other operating charges, net” in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations. Such items include, but are not limited to, amounts related to restructuring

charges (including severance charges), charges to establish and maintain litigation or environmental reserves, product
reserves, retirement charges and gains or losses from settlenents wiII governmental or other organizations. Due to IIe

nature ofIIese items, amounts in the statement of operations can fluctuate from year to year. The determination of which

items are considered significant and unrelated to core operations is based upon management’s judgment.

See Note 10, “Other Operating Charges, net” for a discussiQn of specific amounts in 2020, 2019 and 2018.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE ARRANGEMENT

.

,

During 2019, we entered into an uncommitted supply-chain financing program with a global financial institution under

\vhich a specific customefs trade accounts receivable may be acquired, without recourse, by the financial institution at a

discounted rate. Available capacity under this program is dependent on IIe level of our trade accounts receivable with

this customer and the financial institution’s willingness to purchase such receivables. We have no servicing

responsibilities under IIis agreement.

Receivables sold are de-recognized fl-om our Consolidated Balance Sheet. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and

2019, we sold $256.2 million and $159.3 million of receivables. The proceeds ifiom these sales of receivables are

included within operating activities in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For IIe years ended December 31,
2020 and December31, 2019, factoring expense on the sale of receivables was $1.2 million and $1.0 million, which is

included in the “Interest expense, net” line in IIe Consolidated Statement of Operations.
‘

ENVIRONMENTAL AND ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

We estimate our environmental and asset retirement obligations based on various assumptions and judgments, the

,
specific nature of which varies in light of the particular facts and circumstances surrounding eachliability. These

estimates typically reflect assumptions and judgments as to the probable nature, magnitude and tiIIing of required
investigation, remediation and monitoring activities and the probable cost ofthese activities. We have accrued only for

specific costs related to environmental matters that we have determined are probable and for which an amount can be

reasonably estimated. For asset retirement obligations, IIe liability is accreted to its settlement value and; where

appropriate, IIe capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of IIe related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, we

recognize a gain or loss for any difference between the settlement amount and IIe liability recorded. Our asset retirement

obligation is included in “Other long-term obligations” in theCnolidated Balance Sheets; Our asset retirement
‘

obligation reflects the estimated present value of our obligations for capping, closure and post closure cost with respect
to landfills, asbestos remediation and oIIer ongoing environmental monitoring. The following table represents IIe

activity associated wiII our asset retirement obligations for IIe yeaII ended December31, 2020 and December31, 2019,

.

.

December 31,

(In millions) 2020 2019

[gjnning balance $ ‘ 1.1 $ 0.4

Accretion expense
‘

0.1 0.0

usted to expense during the year

‘

‘ ‘

0.1 O.lj
Adjusted to other operating charges, net 2.5 0.6

[Payments made — — I
Ending balance $ 3.8 $ 1.1
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NOTE 2 R cently 

RE ENTLY DOPTED

In Augus  20.18,the inancial cco nting S andards Boar  (FASB) ssued Acc unting S anda ds pdate (A
20 8-15, I tangi b/es -Go dwill and Othe  - J terna -Use Soft are (Subtop c 35 -4 )  This A U require  cap tal zat

of cert in imlementa io  cos s i cur ed n a l ud compu ing ar an eme t that is a ervice co tract. This

ad pted as of anu ry 1  2020 nd id not h ve a materia  mpact on o r consoli a ed financial sta ement .

In August 018, the FASB ssued ASU 201 -14, Compe sation - Ret rem nt Bene fits - eff nedBe effit Plans - eneral
(Su topic 715- 0), whi h modiffies the disclo ure equirements for d fined benefit and oth r po tretire ent pla s. This
ASU eli inates er ain disc osur s ass ciate  with a cu ulated ther c mpre ensive inco e, pl n assets, r lated parti

and the effects of i teres  ra e basi  point ha ges on ss med hea th care cost , wi h o her isclosure  being add

address sign ffi ant gains and los es elated to c anges i  benefit obl gati ns. Thi  ASU al o la ifies d sc osur

req ire ents f r projec ed ben fi  an  accumulated benefit o ligations. h

di  not have  ma eria  impac  on our cons lidated fln ncal sta ements  .

In Ju e 2016, he ASB issued SU 2016- 3, easure ent of Cr dit Losse  on Fi ancial I st um nts (Topi  326

wh ch modifl s IIe measur me t pproach f r cre it loss s on financial as et me sured on an amortize  co t basi  fflom

an ‘incurr d l ss’ method o an ‘ xpecte  los ’ ethod. Suc  modifica io  of the m as rement app oach for re i

elimi ates the re ui ement tha  a c edit l ss e consi ered pro able, or inc rred, to im ac  the val ation f a fl an

as et me su ed on an amortized co t basis. he amended guidance re uires t e measureme t o  xpected cr dit

be based on r levant nfo mation, includ nghis orical xperience  curre t co ditions, nd a reason ble a d supportabl
forecas  that affect  IIe coll ctabil ty of the relat d flna cia  asset. his men ment il  aff ct trade ecei able

bal nce sheet c edit xp sures a dany IIe  fi ancial a set  not excl ded from t e s ope of his ame dment tha  have

the cont act al ri ht to r ceive c sh. The new st ndard as ffe tive for nnu l and nterim pe i ds beg nn ng 

De embe  15, 2019. We ave upda e  our his orical lo ses and our allo ance for redit losse

of this SU, w ich did not ha e a material impact on ur co solida e  flna cial stat

In March 202 , the Sec rities and Exc ange Commi sion (SEC  issued a inl rule tha  amnded th  d
requiremen s under SE  R gulat on S-X Rule 3-1 , Fin ncia  S ateme ts of uaranto s an  Is uers of Guaran ee

Secu ities Reg st red or Bei g Re iste ed  T e f nal rule is ased on t e premise Ia II  prima y source of nform tion

that inv sto s in gua anteed debt re y on is the cons lidated f nancial state ents of th  parent com an. T e final rul
rep aces he p ev ous requi eme t to pr vi e epara e conde se  cons lid ting financia  i formation f he g arantor

The f nal r le i  eff ctive for fili gs on r after Jauar  4, 2021, an  early ad ption is ermitted. We

ea ly ad pt th s r le w ich re ult d in the removal o  the supple ental uaran or flnancial inorm

In March 020, the FA B ssued ASU 2020-04, R fere ce ate Refo m (Topic 48): Facil tat on of the Lec

Refe ence Ra e Reform o  Financ al Reporting. Thi  ASU rovides prac ical exp di nts and e cept ons fo  a

U.S  GAA  to ont ac s, hedging re ati nships an  oth r transac ions a fec ed by refe enc  r te refo m if ce
are met. Thi  ASU s ppli able o ou  contrac s hat referenc  LI OR. The amend ens may be applied t rough

Dec mber 31, 2 22. We wi

N
W CCOUNTIN  STAN ARD

, In D cembe  2019, he FASB issued ASU. 2019 12  In ome Tax s (Topic 74 ) - Simp4/jing he Acc untin  f r 

Taxes, whic  emoves certa n ex eptions  su h as the ge eral met odo ogy f r c lculating nco e taxes in an nterim
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LEASE EXPENSE

Year Ended Year Ended

(In millions) December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Operating lease costs $ 15.9 $ 15.0

Finance lease costs:
.

Amortization of right-of-use assets 1.8 1.7

Interest, on lease liabilities 1.8 1.9]
Total finance lease costs 3.5 3.6

[ ,-

Variable lease costs 1.6 1.2

Total lease costs $ 21.0 S 19.8

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
.

Year Ended Year Ended

(In millions) December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

]Cash paid for amounts includdin the measurement of lease liabilities: -

-

Operating cash flows ifiom operating leases $ 17.9 $ 16.6

Operating cash flows fflom finance leases 1.8 1.9]
Financing cash flows fflorn finance leases 1.6 1.3

Non-cash amounts for lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets:

] Operating leases
-

.

$ 4.4 $ 2.5

Finance leases 0.3 0.5

SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION .

.

(In millions) Classiffication December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

]Lease ROU Assets ]
Operating lease assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 63.5 73.1

Finance lease assets Property, plant and equipment, net 26.7 26.5]
Accumulated Depreciation (12.7) (11.1)

] Total lease ROU assets $ 77.5 88.51

] Lease Liabilities
. ]

Curre,nt operating lease liabilities OIIer accrued liabilities $ 15.3 13.9

] Current finance lease liabilities Short-term debt
. 1.7 1.4]

Total current lease liabilities 17.0 15.3

[
-

.—
-

, -1
Non-current operating lease liabilities Long-term operating lease liabilities 54.3 65.6

]Non-current finance lease liabilitie Long-term debt 19.1 20.6]
Total non-current lease liabilities 73.4 86.2

- 1
Total operating lease liabilities 69.5 79.5

] Total finance lease liabilities -

20.8 22.0]
Total lease liabilities . $ 90.3 101.5
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LEASE TERM AND DISCOUNT RATE

.

.

December 31, 2020 December 31,2019

jghted average remaining lease term (years) : ]
Operating leases 5.8 6.6

Finance leases
“

9.8 10.71

Weighted average discount i ate 1
Operating leases . 4.9 %

. .

49 %

Finance leases 8 4 % 8 3 %]
MATURITY OF LEASE LIABILITIES . .

.

As of December 31, 2020, our future maturities of lease liabilities were as follows: ..

.

.

.

,

.

.

(In millions) ,

.

.

Operating .

Finance

[2021 ;
,

.
$ 18.2 $ 3.4]

.

2022
‘

17.3 3.2

2023 104 29j
2024

,
.

.

7.5 . 2.8

2025 72 28]
‘

Thereaffier
,

19.5 15.9

] Total lease payments 80 2 30 9

Less interestportion . ,
(10.7) (10.1)

Total $ 695 $ 208]

NOTE S Goodwill and Intangible Assets

As of December 31,2020 and 2019, we had $35.1 million ofgoodwill included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment annually as of each November 1st and at any time when evehts

suggest impairment may have occurred.
‘

‘

‘

‘

.

In August2018, we sold ‘our Ladysmith, Wisconsin tissue manufacturing facility for net cash proceeds of approximately
$70.9 million. In connection with the sale, we recorded a $14.0 million write-off ofgoodwill ofthe Consumer Products

reporting unit. The goodwill was allocated to our divested assets by estimating the fair value ofthe Ladysmith facility

compared to the estimated fair value of IIe Consumer Products reporting unit, which was IIen used to estimate the

amount of goodwill to allocate to the sold business.
‘ ‘

‘

In 2018, we conducted our annual impairment test as of the November 1, 2018 ‘measurement date and oncluded, bdsed

on a weakened market outlook, that the estimated fair value ofthe Consumer Products reporting unit,uing a discounted

cash flow methodology, was below the carrying value ofthe reporting unit, resulting in a non-cash impairment charge of

$195.1 million. This amount represented the remaining goodwill associated with our Consumer Products reporting unit :

IIat was originally recorded as the result of our acquisition ofCellu Tissue Holdings, Inc. in 2010. , , ‘ ‘
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Changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets by reportable segment were as follows:

(In millions) Consumer Products Pulp and Paperboard Total

[ Intangibles Goodwill Intangibles

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 4.6 $ 35.1 $ 19.5 $ 59.2

Amortization 4.3) — (2.9) (7.2)1
Balance as of December 31, 2019 0.3 35.1 16.6 52.0

[ Amortization (0.3) — (2.9) (3.2)[
Balance as ofDecember 31, 2020 $ — $ 35.1 $ 13.7 $ 48.8

As ofDecember 31, 2020, intangible assets consisted of $12.8 million customer relationships, $0.7 million tradenames

and trademarks and $0.2 million other intangibles. As of December 31, 2019, intangible assets consisted of$ 15.0 million

of customer relationships, $1.7 million oftradenarnes and trademarks and $0.2 million of other intangibles. Deffinite

lived intangible assets are amortized over IIeir useful lives, which have historically ranged ifiom 5 to 10 years.

Accumulated amortization of deffinite lived intangible assets at December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $50.1 millioh,
$46.9 million and $39.7 million.

As ofDecember31, 2020, estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets is as follows (in millions):

Years ending December 31, Amount

2021 .

$ 2.9
,

,

2.21
2023

.

2.1

2024 2.1

2025 2.1

LThereaifier .

,

‘

2.1

Total
,

$ 13.7

NOTE 6 Income Taxes .

We are subject to corporate level federal and state income taxes in the United States.

On March 27, 2020, the “Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act’ was signed. The CARES Act,

among other things, included provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of employer side social
‘

security payments, net operating loss carry back periods, alternative minimum tax credit refunds, modiffications to net

interest deduction limitations, increased limitations on qualiffied charitable contributions, and technical corrections to tax

depreciation methods for qualiffied improvements property. During 2020, we recognized a $7.0 million million beneffit

fflom the provisions ofthe Act.
‘

During 2018, we recorded $41.0 million of tax expense related to impairment of non-deductible goodwill. .

The income tax provision (beneffit) is comprised of IIe following:

For The Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018(In millions) 2020

[Current
,

Federal $ (17.4) $ (2.1) $ 1.1

State 1.8 ‘ 0.1 2.1

Total current
. (15.6) (2.0) 3.2

Deferred
“

,

,

.

Federal . 32.5 (0.6)
‘ ‘

3.6

r State
.

..

.

.

,

‘

4.2 0.3 3.51
Total deferred

[Income tax provision (beneffit)
,

,

$

36.7

21.1 $

(0.3)

(2.3) $

7.1

10.3
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The income tax provision (beneffit:differs from IIe amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to

income (loss) before income taxes due to the following:

For The Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 . 2018 . .(In millions)

Tax at the statutory rate $ 20.6 $ (1.7) $ (28.0)j
Goodwill impairment

.

—
. — 41.0

State and’ local taxes, net of federal income tax impact
,

5.6 (0.9) 4.4

Adjustment for state cleferredtax rate (0.3) (1.2) :

‘

0.1

CARES Act netoprating loss cariyback
,

‘

(7.0) —

‘

—

Federal credits . . .

. ‘(1.3) (2.3) (10.9)
.

Uncertaintaxpositions
.

‘ 2.2 .

. 0.7
‘

—1
Stock compensation

‘

1.2 0.6 0.7’

Non-deductible expenses . .

.

‘

. 1.1 0.4
.

0.2

Change in valuation allowances
‘

.

. o.i
‘

2.3
‘

—

‘ OIIer,net1
,

(1.1) (0.2) 2.8]

‘

Income tax provision (beneffit)
,

. $
‘

21.1 $ (2.3) $
.

‘10.3

‘
Includes $2.9 million of expense assoiated with the write-offof goodwill as part of our divestiture discussed in Note 10, “Other Operating

,

Charges, net’ for the year ended December31, 2018. . ‘

.
‘

During 2020, the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets increased by $0.1 million and during 2019 the valuation

allowance for ‘deferred tax assets increased by $2.3 million comparable to 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2019,

,‘ the increase of $2.3 million was oLset by a release of state valuation allowances of $0.8 million due to IIe lapse of

‘statutes.
‘

.

‘

.

.

‘

‘
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The tax eLects of significant temporary diLerences creating deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were:

(In millions) 2020 2019

Deferred tax assets:

Employee beneffits .

$ 3.4 S 3.8

Pbstretirement employee benefits
.

•

19.2 17.1

Incentive compensation . - 5.2 4.4

[ Inventories
,

0.6
‘

7.61
Pensions 0.2 3.2

Federal and state credit carryforwards -- 16.2
‘

10.3

Federal and state net operating losses 3.9 8.8

Deferred interet expense

‘

-

,

.

.
—

,

12.4

Operating leases “
‘

18.0 20.5

Other
‘

,

. ,

.

1.8 1.6

Total deferred tax assets
.

68.5 89.7

EValuation allowance
‘

.

(5.4) (5.3)[
Deferred tax assets, net ofvaluation allowance

.

63.1 84.4

[[Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment, net
‘

(199.7) (179.2)

[ Operating leases
,

.

.

,

.

. (16.4) (18.9)
Intangible assets, net

, (3.0) (3.8)
Total deferred tax liabilities (219 1) (201 9)1
Net deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of:

, $ (156.0) S (117.5)

(In millions)

Non-current deferred tax assets’1

Non-current deferred tax liabilities

‘Net deferred tax liabilities

‘
Included in Other assets, net on our accompanying December31, 2020 and 2019 Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We have tax’beneffits associated with state jurisdictions totaling $8.8 million which expire between 2021 and 2039.

We ‘use the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits earned on eligible expenditures. Under this

method, the investment tax’ credits are recognized as a reduction to income tax expense in the year they are earned.

During 2020 and 2019, we recognized $0.3 million and $1.3 million related to energy investment tax credits.

2020 2019

.;
“ .

‘

-

$ .

‘

,

2.1

(158.1)

$
“

3.8]
(121.3)

,

$ (156.0) 5 (117.5)]
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The following table provides a roll forward of our unrecognized tax beneffits and associated interest and penalties.

.

-

Gross

. Unrecognized
- Tax Beneffits,

Excluding Interest Total Gross

Interest and and Unrecognized
(In millions) . :

Penalties :

:
Penalties Tax Beneffits

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ . 3.1 $. -. 0.3 $ 3.41
- Changeinprioryeartaxpositions - 0.3 0.1 0.4

I Change in cuirent yeai tax positions 0 3 — 0 3

Balance at December 31, 2019 3.7 0.4 4.1

[Change in prior year ta positions
-

2.0 . (0.1) 1.9.]
Change in.currentyear tax positions -- - - 0.4 -

— 0.4

] Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 6 1 $ 03 $ 64 I

Unrecognized tax beneffits are included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets within the following line items:• .

December31,

(In millions)
-

2020 2019

Receivables, net $ 0 4 $ __J
Deferred tax liabilities - - 5.0 0.7

] Other long-term obligations’
.

-
-

1.0. 3 .4
.

-

-

. $ 6.4 $ 4.1

Unrecognized tax beneffits net of related deferred tax assets at December 31, 2020, if recognized, would have favorably

impacted our effective tax rate by decreasing our tax provision by $6.4 million. For each ofthe years ended

.

December 31, 2019 and 2018, if recognized, the balance ofunrecognized tax benefits would have favorably impacted
- our eLective tax rate by $3.5 million and $2.8 million. We reflect accrued interest related to tax obligations, as well as

penalties, in our provision for income taxes. For each ofthe years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, we

accrued interest of less than $0.1 million each year in our income tax provision and no penalties in our income tax

provision.
.

.

We have operations in many states-within the U.S. and are subject, at times, to tax audits in IIese jurisdictions. With a

few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or foreign income tax examinations by tax

authorities for years prior to 2015. We expect that the outcome of any examination will not have a material effect on our

consolidated- financial statements. Although the timing of resolution of audits is not mrtain, we-evaluate all audit issues

in the aggregate, along with the expiration of applicable.statutes of limitations, and estimate that it is reasonably possible
the total gross unrecognized tax beneffits could decrease by approximately $1.5 million within the next 12 months.
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NOTE 7 Other Accrued Liabilities

(In millions) 2020 2019

Operating lease liabilities $ 15.3 $ 13.9]
Accrued interest 12.6 13.3

Current liability for pension and other postretirement employee beneffits 6.2 7.41
Accrued taxes other than income taxes payable 10.5 7.1

[Accruscounts and allowances 4.9 6.6J
OIIer 8.5 12.3

S 58.0 $ 60.7
Included in other accrued liabilities is $6.6 million and $6.3 million related to capital expenditures that had not yet been

paid as of December 31, 2020 and as ofDecember 31, 2019.

NOTE 8 Debt

Long-term debt at the balance sheet dates consisted of:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Interest Rate at

December 31,. Unamortized Unamortized

(In millions) 2020 Principal Debt Costs Total Principal Debt Costs Total

Term loan maturing
2026, variable interest

rate 3.3% $ 129.3 $ (1.9) $ 127.4 $ 300.0 $ (5.1) $ 294.9

2013 Notes, maturing
2023, ffixed interest rate —% — — — 275.0 (1.5) 273.5

2014 Notes, maturing
2025,ffixedinterestrate 5.4% 300.0 (1.2) 298.8 300.0 (1.5) 298.5

2020 Notes, maturing
2028, ffixed interest rate 4.8% 275.0 (3.9) 271.1 — — —

Credit Agreements,
variable interest rates 3.5% — .— — 13.5 — 13.5

Finance leases 20.8 — 20.8 22.0 — 22.0

l debt 725.0 (6.9) 718.1 910.5 (8.1) 902.4

Less: current portion (1.7) — (1.7) (17.9) — (17.9)

Net long-term portion $ 723.3 $ (6.9) $ 716.4 $ 892.6 $ (8.1) $ 884.5

Deferred debt costs are amortized over the life of IIe related debt using a straight line basis which approximates the

effective interest method. These costs are a direct deduction fflom the carlying amount related to the debt liability. If the

debt is retired early, the related unamortized deferred ffinancing costs are written off in the period the debt is retired to

debt retirement costs.
.

During 2020, in connection wiII IIe issuance of IIe 2020 Notes, we redeemed IIe 2013 Notes in full. This redemption
resulted in a loss on early debt extinguishment of-$3 .2 million consisting of $1.2 million related to IIe write off of

unamortized debt costs along with the premium on debt redemption of $2.1 million..

We amortized deferred debt costs of $2.1 million, $2.0 million and $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2020,

2019 and 2018. Included in these amortized amounts are deferred debt costs associated with our current line of credit,
which are recorded wiIIin “Other current assets” and “Other assets, net” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The fair value of our debt is included in the following table:

(In millions) .

. December 31,2020 December 31, 2019

$ 16$ •__j
2013 Notes, maturing 2023, ffixed interest rate $ — $ . 275.4

2014 Notes, maturing 2025, ffixed interest rate

2020 Notes, maturing 2028,ffixed interest rate

$ 325.1 $ 298.7

$ 285.3 $ —

TERM LOAN AND ABL CREDIT AGREEMENTS

-On July 26, 2019, we entered into credit agreements with several lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (JPMorgan),
as administrative agent, which included (a) a $300 million Term Loan Credit Agreement and (b) a $250 million asset

based lending (ABL) Credit Agreement (the Term Loan Credit Agreement and ABL Credit Agreement are collectively .

referred to as the Credit Agreements). At closing, the Term Loan Credit Agreement was fully advanced and $58.0

million was drawn under the ABL Credit Agreement, proceeds of which were used to reffinance and terminate our: (a)
$200 million credit agreement dated October31, 2016, as amended, with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Wells

Fargo), as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto, ofwhich $135.0 million was outstanding and (b) the $200

million credit agreement dated October31, 2016, as amended, wiII Northwest Farm Credit Services, PCA, (Farm Credit)
as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto,. ofwhich $200.0 million was outstanding (IIe Prior Credit

Agreements); pay fees and expenses in connection wiII IIe Credit Agreements; and for working capital purposes.
.

In conjunction with the termination of IIe Prior Credit Agreements, ofwhich the $200 million credit agreement with

Wells Fargo was treated as a debt modiffication, debt extinguishment costs consisted of $1.7 million in breakage fees and;
$1.0 million in unamortized debt issuance costs, which were written-off as debt retirement costs during 2019.

Unamortized debt issuance costs of $1.6 million, related to the debt modiffication, are being amortized over the remaining
term ofthe ABL Credit Agreement. We incurred additional debt issuance costs of $7.3 million, which are allocated and

amortized over the respective terms ofIIe Credit Agreements. . .. .

The Credit Agreements contain certain customary representations, warranties, and affrmative and negative covenants of

us and our subsidiaries that restrict us and our subsidiaries’ ability to take certain actions, including, incurrence of

indebtedness, creation of liens, mergers oi consolidations, dispositions of assets, i epui chase oi redemption of capital
stock and certain types of indebtedness, making certain investments, entering into certain transactions wiII affiliates or

changing the nature of our business. At December 31, 2020, we were in compliance with IIe Credit Agreements.

Term Loan CreditAgreement
.

.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement matures on July 26, 2026. We are required to repay the aggregate outstanding

principal amount in quarterly installments in an aggregate amount for each such date equal to the aggregate principal
amount ofthe initial loan amount (as such amount may be adjusted pursuant to the prepayment provisions ofthe Term
Loan Credit Agreement) multiplied by 0.25%. Through the fourth quarter of 2020, we have made voluntary prepayments
of principal of the Term Loan Credit Agreement of $170.0 million. In connection wiII IIese prepayments we were able.

to apply those amounts.against our quarterly required principal installments through the maturity date of the Term Loan

Credit Agreement in 2026, and therefore, no further regularly scheduled principal payments will be required prior to

maturity. In connection with the voluntary repayments, we recorded $2.6 million in early debt extinguishment related to

the write off of associated deferred debt fees. . .

:

In addition, we must make mandatory prepayments of principal under the Term Loan Credit Agreement upon the

occurrence of certain speciffied events, including certain asset sales (subject to customary reinvestment rights), debt

issuances not permitted under the Term Loan Credit Agreement, and based on a percentage, which may vary fflom 0% to

50% depending on our secured leverage ratio, of annual Excess Cash Flows in excess of certain IIreshold amounts, less

any voluntary prepayments under the Term Loan Credit Agreement. Any remaining outstanding principal balance under

the Term Loan Credit Agreement is repayable on the maturity date. Amounts repaid or prepaid by us with respect to the

loans under IIe Term Loan Credit Agreement cannot be reborrowed. We may, at our option, prepay any borrowings
under the Term Loan Credit Agreement, in whole or in part, at any time. and from time to time.without premium or

penalty (except in certain circumstances). Based upon the prepayments that occurred in 2020, we do not expect any

mandatoiy prepayments in 2021.
,

.

.

We may add one or more incremental term loan facilities to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, subject to obtaining
commitments ifiom any participating lenders and certain other conditions, in an amount not to exceed (1) $100 million,
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plus (2) the amount of all voluntary prepayments ofthe Term Loan Credit Agreement (other than prepayments funded

wiII long-term indebtedness), plus (3) an additional amount, so long as aifier giving effect to theiicurrence of such

additional amount, our pro fornia ffirst lien -secured leverage ratio would not exceed 2.OOx to- 1.OOx. -At December 31,

2020 our ffirst lien secured ratio was O.39x. Under the Term Loan Credit Agreement, loans generally may bear interest

based on LIBOR or an annual base rate, as applic.ble, plus, in each case, an applicable margin. When our-leverage ratio

is (i) less than or equal to 4.25 to 1.00, the margin is 3.00% per annum in the case ofLIBOR loans and 2.00% per annum

in the case of annual base rate loans and (ii) greater than 4 25 to 1 00, the maigin is 3 25% per annum in IIe case of

LIBOR loans and 2.25% per-annum in the case of annual base rate loans. At-December 31, 2020, our leverage ratio was

2.3 8x and IIerefore our applicable mdrgin on LIBOR loaiis was 3.00%.
-

-

ABL creditAgreement
- - -

-

-

- -

;

The ABL Credit Agreement matures on July 26, 2024 and includesa $250.0 million revolving loan commitment, subject
- to borrowing base limitations based on a percentage of applicable eligible receivables and eligible inventory. Based upon

our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020, our eligible receivables and inventory- supported up to

$227.1 million availability under the line ofwhich no borrowings were outstanding and $3.6 millIon was utilized to issue

letters of credit. We may, at our option, prepay any borrowings under the ABL
-

Credit Agreement, in- whole or in part, at

any time and ifiom time to time wiIIout premium or penalty (except in certain circumstances). Borrowings under the

ABL Credit Agreement are also subject to mandatory prepayment in certain circumstances, including in th vent that

borrowings exceed-applicable borrowing base limits. We may also increase commitments under the ABL -Credit

Agreement in an aggregate principal amount ofup to $100 million, subject to obtaining commitments ifiom any

participating lenders and certain other conditions. -

: -

Under IIeABL Credit Agreement, loans may bear interest based on LIBOR or an annual base rate, as applicable, plus, in

each case, an applicable margin that is based on availability, as calculated under IIe ABL Credit Agreement that may

vary fflom 1.25%-per annum to 1.75% per annum in the case ofLIBOR loans and 0.25% per annum to 0.75% per annum

in IIe case of annual base rate loans. In addition, a commitment fee based on unused availability is also payable which

may vary from 0.25% per annum to 0.375% per annum.

The ABL Credit Agreement also contains a ffinancial covenant, which requires us to maintain a consolidated ffixed charge

coverage ratio ofnot less than 1.1 Ox to 1 00x, provided that IIe ffinancial covenant under the ABL Credit Agreement is

only applicable when unused availability falls below $25 million. As ofDecember 31, 2020, our ffixed charge coverage

ratio was approximately 5. lx which included the impact of our voluntary debt prepayments. Our ability to utilize our

ABL Credit Agreement could be limited in the future: by our bond indentures which have limitations on liens.

2014 NOTES
- -

-

In 2014, we issued $300 million aggregate principal amountof senior notes (2014 Notes), due February 1, 2025, wiII an

interest rate of 5.375%.
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

The 2014 Notes are guaranteed by all of our direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries, as well as any future direct and

indirect-domestic subsidiaries IIat do not constitute an immaterial subsidiary under IIe indenture governing IIe 2014

Notes. The 2014 Notes are equal in right ofpayment wiII all other existing and future unsecured- senior indebtedness and

ate senior in iight of payment to any future subordinated indebtedness The 2014 Notes are effectively suboidinated to all

of our existing and future secured indebtedness, including borrowings under our Term Loan and ABL Credit

Agreements. The terms ofthe 2014 Notes limit our ability and IIe ability of any restricted subsidiaries to incur certain

liens,

engage in sale and leaseback transactions and consolidate, merge with, or convey, transfer or lease substantially all

-

-

of our or their assets to anoIIer person. -

-

-

-

-

-

-

We may, on any one or more occasions, redeem all or a part of the 2014 Notes, upon not less IIan 30 days nor more than

60 days’ notice, at a redemption price equal to 100% ofthe principal amount of IIe 2014 Notes redeemed, plus the

applicable premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, to the date of redemption. In addition, we may be required to

make an offer to purchase the 2014 Notes upon IIe sale of certain assets and upon a change of control.

2020 NOTES -

-

- In 2020, we issued $275 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes (2020 Notes) due August 2028 with an

interest rate of4.75%. - - -

--

-

-

The 2020 Notes are unsecured and effectively subordinated to all of IIe Company’s existing and future secured debt,

including borrowings under its existing credit facilities. The 2020 Notes are guaranteed on an unsecured basis by each of
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the Company’s existing direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries, and will be guaranteed by each ofthe Company’s
future direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions. If the Company is unable to make

payments on IIe 2020 Notes when they are due, each Guarantor is obligated to make such payments.

The Indenture contains covenants that, among other things, limit our ability and the ability of any of our subsidiaries to

(i) enter intosale leaseback transactions, (ii) incur liens and (iii) consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all ofour

assets. In addition, the ‘Indenture requires, among other IIings, we provide certain reports to holders of the 2020 Notes.

these covenants are subject to a number of exceptions, limitations and qualiffications as set forth in the Indenture:

We may redeem all or a ottion ofthe 2020 Notes at specified redemption prices plus accrued and unpaid interest. In

addition, we may be required to make an offer to purchase the 2020 Notes upon the sale of certain assets and upon a

change in control.

Scheduled principal payments for debt and minimum finance lease obligations at the balance sheet date are as follows:

December 31, 2020

(In millions) Debt

L2o21 $ 1.71
2022 1.6

1.51r2023 .

,

.

2024
.

.

‘‘

1.5

12025 .

.

,

. 301.7]
Thereaifier 417.0

725.01lTotal .

‘

.

$

NOTE 9 Asset Divestiture
.

,

In 2018, we completed the sale of our Ladysmith facility for net cash proceeds of approximately $70.9 million, resulting
in a net gain of $24.0 million, which is’ recorded in “Other operating charges, net.” The sale of the LadysmiII facility
consisted of $26.8 million ofproperty, plant and equipment and $3.4 million of inventory and did not qualify for

discontinued operations treatment. Goodwill of$ 14.0 million and certain identifiable customer relationship intangibles, of

$0.9 million associated with the divested mill were written-off. During IIe year ended December 31, 2020, we received

the ffinal settlement of this sale which was a release of a $1.4 million indemnity and resulting restricted cash which was

included in “Restricted cash” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as ofDecember 31, 2019.
,

NOTE 10 Other Operating Charges, net
‘

.

.

The major componentsofOther operating charges, net” in the Consolidated’Statements of Operations for the years

ended December 31 are reflected in’ the table below:

Years Ended December 31, .

2019 2018(In millions) . . 2020

Reorganization expenses ,

. $ 3.4 S 2.9 S
‘

8.0 1
Union settlement 6.6 — —

Miscellaneous environmental accruals ,

,

2.5
,

1.0 —

Directors’ equity-based compensation expense (benefit) . 2.9 0.3 (2.3)

Gain on divested assets, net ,

(1.4) —

‘

(24.0)].
Other

,

, — 2.1 0.8

1
‘

$ 14.0 5 6.3 $ (17.5)1
2020 , “

,

, .

During 2020, we recorded a $14.0 million net loss in “Other operating charges, net”. The compohents of IIe net loss,
include:

.
.

.

.

.

expenses of $3.4 million related to reorganization expenses,
. .

.

expenses of $6.6 million associated with union settlement retroactive wage payments ($2.6 million associated
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wiII Consumer Products and $4.0 million associated with Paperboard segments),
.

expense of $2.5 million associated with certain environmental liabilities primarily related to asbestos

remediation,
.

.

:

.

expense of $2.9 million relating to directors’ equity based compensation

gain of $1.4. million associated with the ‘LadysmiII Consumer Products facility sale escrow release, and

2019
“

.

During 2019, we recorded a $6.3 million net loss in “Other operating charges,.net”. The components of the net loss

include: -

.

expenses of $2.9 million related to reorganization expenses, and
.

.

expenses of $1.0 million associated with certain environmental liabilities primarily related to asbestos

remediation.
.

. . .

2018 .

,

During 2018, we recorded a $17.5 million net gain in “Other operating charges, net”. The components of IIe net gain
include:

.

. income of $2.3 million relating to directors’ equity based compensation,
.

.
a gain of $24.0 million related to the sale of the Ladysmith facility (see Note 9 “Asset Divestiture” for further

discussion), and
.

.

.

.

expenses of $8.0 million related to reorganization expenses.
.

.

NOTE’ 11 Non Operating Income (Expense)
- .

.

The major components of “Non-operating expense” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended

December 31 are reflected in the table below:

Years Ended flecember 31,

2019(In millions)
,

.

2020 2018

[nterest expense
—

$ (444) $ (49 8) $ (39 5)]
Capitalized interest

, .

-

. . . , ,

5.9
‘

9.0

[Amortization of debt issuance costs (2 1) (2 0) (1 4)
Interest income — 1.1 1.2

.

Inteiest expense, net (46 5) (44 9) (30 7)1

Debt retnement costs (5 9) (2 7) —]
Non-operating pension and other postretirement employee benefits expense

‘

(7.6) (5.7) . (4.9)

Total non-operating expense
- ‘“

.
$ (59.9) $ (53.3) $- (35.6)1

NOTE 12 Savings, Pension and Other Postretirement Employee Beneffit Plans

Certain of our employees’are eligible to participate in deffined contribution savings and deffined benefit postretirement

plans. These include 40 1(k) savings plans, defined benefit- pension plans including company-sponsored and ‘,

multiemployer plans, and other postretirement employee benefit (OPEB) plans.

401(k) Savings Plans .
.

.

Substantially all of our employees are eligible to participate in 40 1(k) savings ‘plans, which include a company match

component. As ofDecember 31, 2020 our contributions may be up to 7.7% for U.S. salaried and non-union hourly
employees, consisting of a match of up to 4.2% of allowable contributions and an automatic employer contribution of

3.5%. Contributions associated with our Union employees are based upon negotiated agreements. In 2020, 2019 and

2018, we recorded expense of $17.3 million, $15.3 million, and $14.7 million related to employer contributions to the

40 1(k) plans.
‘

‘ .
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Company-Sponsored Deffined Beneffit Pension and OPEB Plans

A majority of our salaried employees and a portion of our hourly employees are covered by company-sponsored

noncontributory deffined beneffit pension plans. We provide retiree healII care and life insurance plans, which cover

certain salaried and hourly employees. Retiree health care benefits for Medicare eligible participants over the age of 65

are provided through Health Reimbursement Accounts, or HRAs. Beneffits for retirees under the age of 65 are provided
under our company-sponsored healII care plans, which requir retiree contributions and contain oIIer cost-sharing
features. The retiree life insurance plans are primarily noncontributory.

We also maintain a Salaried Supplemental Beneffit Plan, an unfunded, non-qualiffied deffined beneffit plan intended to

provide supplemental retirement beneffits to certain executives. Beneffits in the Salaried Supplemental Beneffit Plan are

generally provided to restore beneffits or company contributions that are reduced under the Company sponsored qualiffied

plans due to the limits of Section 40 1(a)(17) or 415 of the Code. The plan is composed of a deffined beneffit portion and a

deffined contribution portion. The deffined beneffit portion of the plan was fflozen on December 31, 2011 (the date on

which all beneffit accruals under the Salaried Retirement Plan were frozen) and as of December, 31, 2020, we only had

two active employees under IIis portion. The deffined contribution portion of IIis liability totaled $2.4 million and

$2.2 million at December31, 2020 and December31, 2019. The current and long term portions ofIIe liability is

included in “Accrued compensation” and “Other long-term obligations” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The

defined benefit portion is included in the pension benefit tables below.

Pension and Other Postretirement Employee Beneffit Plans

The following table shows the changes in the beneffit obligation, plan assets and funded status for 2020 and 2019 for boII

the pension beneffit plans and the other postretirement employee benefit plans.

Other Post Retirement
.

Pension Beneffit Plans Employee Benefit Plans

(In millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019

[hange in projected beneffit obligation:

$

.

Benefit obligation atbeginning ofyear . 316.5 $ 294.2 $ 66.4 $ 60.3

ycecost 2.2 2.4 0.1 0.1

Interest cost 10.4 12.4
‘

2.3 2.8

lActuarial (gains) losses 26.9 29.0 11.0 9.]
Benefits paid . . (21.1) (21.5) (5.6) (6.4)

[Benefit obligation at end ofyear 334.9 316.5 74.2 66.4 I
Changes in plan assets:

IFair value ofplan assets at beginning of year 306.6 268.8 — —1
Actual return on plan assets . 50.0 58.8 — —

Employer contribution 0.5 0.5 5.6 7.0

Benefits paid (21.1) (21.5) (5.6)
‘

(7.0)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 335.9 306.6 — —

Funded status at end of year S 1.0 S (9.9) $ (74.2) $ (66.4)

Amounts recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheet: J
Non-current assets 5 13.5 S 7.7 $ S $

‘

ICurrent liabilities (0.4) (0.4) (5.8) (7.0)
Non-current liabilities

.

.

(12.0) (17.2) (68.4) (59.4)

[Netamountrecognized $ 1.0 5 (9.9) 5 (74.2) $ (66.4)1
Amounts recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive loss (pre-tax): .

(Net actuarial loss (gain) 5 73.3 5 91.4 5 5.9. $ (5.1)1
The beneffit obligation for our pension beneffits is the projected benefit obligation based upon credited service as of the

measurement date.
,

57



The December 31, 2020 pension funded status was favorably affected by better than expected asset returns, partially
offset by a decrease in the discount rate. The December 31, 2020 OPEB beneffit obligation increased as of December31,

2020 due to a decrease in the discount rate partially oLset by IIe continued payment of beneffits.

Information as ofDecember 31 for certain pension plans included above with accumulated benefit obligations in excess

of plan assets were as follows:

(In millions) 2020 2019

Projected benefit obligation $ 188.7 S 178.5

Accumulated benefit obligation 188.7 178.5

}Fair value of plan assets 176.2 160.8]
Net Periodic Cost

.

Service cost is the actuarial present value of beneffits attributed by IIe plans’ beneffit formula to services rendered by

employees during the year. Interest cost represents the increase in the projected beneffit obligation, which is a discounted

amount, due to the passage of time. The expected return on plan assets reflects the computed amount of current-year

earnings from the investment of plan assets using an estimated long-term rate of return.

.

.

Other Post Retirement

Pension Beneffit Plans Employee Beneffit Plans

2019(In millions)

Iservice cost

2020

$ 2.2 $

2019 2018 2020

., 2.4 $ 1.8 $ 0.1 $

2018

0.1 $ 0.1

Interest cost 10.4 12.4 12.0 2.3 2.8 2.4

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of prior service co

(15.0).,
st (credit)

(16.5) (.17.0) —

—

—

—

—i
(1.7).

Amoifiization of actuarial loss (gain) 9.8 7.3 10.1 — (0.3) (0.9)
(0.1)Net periodic cost (income) $ 7.5 S 5.6 $ 6.9 $ 2.4 $ 2.6 $

The components of net periodic pension expense other than the Service cost component are included in “OIIer non-

operating expense” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During 2020, 2019, and 2018, $1.9 million, $1.5

million and $1.2 million of net periodic pension and OPEB costs were charged to “Cost of sales” and $0.5 million, $1.0

million and $0.8 million were charged to “Selling, general and administrative expenses,” in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

,

.

Assumptions: Pension Benefit Plans

Other Post Retirement

Employee Beneffit Plans

20192020 2019 2018 2020 2018
.

Actuarial assumption used to determine

bereffit obligation:

‘

.

Discount rate 2.6 % 3.4 % 4.4 % 2.6 % 3.6 % 4.6 %

Actuarial assumption used to determine net

periodic pension cost:

,

,

Discount rate 3.4 % 4.4 % 3.9 % 3.6 % 4.6 % 4.0 %

Expected return on plan assets 5.5 % 6.0 % 6.0 % — — — 1
The discount rate used in the determination ofpension beneffit obligations and pension expense was determined based on

a review of long-term high-grade bonds. The discount rate used to calculate OPEB obligations was determined using the

same methodology we used for our pension plans.

The expected return on plan assets assumption is based upon an analysis of historical long-term returns for various

investment categories, as measured by appropriate indices and forward looking expectations of returns. These indices are

weighted based upon the extent to which plan assets are invested in IIe particular categories in arriving at our

determination of a composite expected return.
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The assumed healII caie cost trend rate used to calculate 2020 OPEB cost was 6.9% in 2020, grading to 3.7% over

approximately 60 years, for participants whose benefits are not provided through HRAs, and45% in 2020 through

2061, then grading to 3.7% aifier 2061 for participants whose beneffits are provided throughHRAs. Thd health care cost

trend rate usedto. calculate December 31, 2020 OPEB obligations was 6.0% in 2021, grading to 3.7% over

approximately 60 years, for participants whose benefits are not provided through HRAs, and 4.5% in 2021 .IIioiigh 2061,

then grading to 3.7% aifier 2061’for participants whose benefits are provided through HRAs. Thisassumption has a

significant eLect on the amounts reported. .

Plan Assets

There have been no. changes in the methodologies used during 2020 and 2019. Investments in common and collective

trust funds are generally valued based on IIeir respective net asset value, or NAy, (or its equivalent), as a practical. .

expedient to estimate fair value due to the absence of a readily determinabfe fair value.

The following tables set forII by level, within the fair value hierarchy, IIe investments at fair value for our company- .

sponsored pension beneffit plans:
.

.

(In millions) Level!

Cash and cash equivalents
.

$
.

2.4 $ — $ 2.4

Common and collective trust:
,

Collective investment funds ,

.

. .

333.5 333.5 1
Total investments at fair value $ 2.4 $ .3335 $ 335.9

December31, 2019
.

.

-

Investments
I

,

,,

measured at net asset

(In millions) Level! value . Total

Cash, and cash equivalents’ ,

, 2.0 S
-

— $ -, 2.0

Commonand collective trusts: .

.

.

‘

Collective investment funds
‘

304.6 304.61
Total investments at fair value $ .

‘

2.0 S
.

. 304.6 $ .

‘

3066

We have formal investment policy guidelines for our company-sponsored plans. Theseguidelines were set by our

Benefits Committee, which is comprised ofmembers of our management and has been assigned its fiduciary authority
over management ofthe plan assets by our Board of Directors. The Committee’s duties include periodically reviewing
and modi’ing those investment policy guidelines as necessary and ensuring IIat IIe policy is adhered to and IIe

investment objectives are met. The investment policy includes guidelines for specific categories of equity and fixed
,

income securities. Assets are managed by professional investment managers who are expected to achieve a reasonable

rateof return over a market cycle. Long-term perfoimance is a fundamental tenet of the policy.

Thegeneral policy states that plan assets would be invested to seek IIe greatest return consistent with the fiduciary.
character ofIIe pension funds and to allow IIe plans to meet IIe need fdrtimely pension beneffit payments. The specific
investment guidelines stipulate that management is to maintain adequate liquidity for meeting expected beneffit payments

by reviewing, on a timely basis, contribution and beneffit payment levels and appropriately revising long-term and short-

term asset allocations. Management takes reasonable and prudent steps to preserve the value ofpension fund assets,

,avoid the risk of large losses and alsoattempt to preserve the funded status of IIe plans. Major. steps taken to ‘provide this

protection included:

‘

- Assets are diversified among various asset classes, such as domestic equities, international equities, flxed
‘

income and cash. The long-term asset allocation ranges are as follow: .

‘

.

‘Domestic’ equities .

‘

International equities, including emerging markets

‘

Corporate/Government bonds
,

Liquid reserves
,

December 31, 2020

Investments,
‘

measured at net asset

value Total

5% - ‘10%

5% - 10%

80% - 90%

- 5%

59



Periodically, we review the allocations \vithin these ranges to determine what adjustments should be made based on

changing economic and market conditions and specific liquidity requirements.
.

Assets are managed by professional investment managers and could be invested in separately managed accounts

or commingled finds.
.

. Assets are not invested inscurities raIId below BBB- by S&P or Baa3 by Moody’s.

The investment guidelines also require that the individual investment managers are expected to achieve a reasonable rate

of return over a market cycle. Emphasis is placed on long-term performance versus short-term market aberrations.

Factors considered in determining reasonable rates of return include performance achieved by a diverse cross section of

other investment managers, performance of coIImonly used benchmarks (e.g., Russell 3000 Index, MSCI World exU.S.

Index, Barclays Capital Long Credit Index), actuarial assumptions for return on plan investments and specific

performance guidelines given to individual investment managers.. .

.

As ofDecember 31, 2020, eight investment options held substantially all of IIe pension funds. Plan assets were

diversified among the various asset classes wiIIin IIe allocation ranges approved by IIe Benefits Commitiee.

In 2020, we did not make any contributions to our qualified pension plans, dnd we currently do not anticipate making

any cash contributions to those plans in 2021. We contributed $0.5 million to our non-qualified pension plan in 2020. We

do not anticipate finding our OPEB plans in 2021 except to pay benefit costs as incurred during IIe year by plan

participants.
.

Estimated fUture benefit payments are as follows for the years indicated:

Other

Postretirement
. Pension Benetit Employee

(In millions) Plans Benefit Plans
,

12021
.

$ 20.4 $ 5.81
2022

.

. 20.4 5.2

[O23 . 20.3 4.8

2024
. 20.2 4.6

12025 .

20.0

2026-2030 95.3 19.6

Multiemployer Deffined Benefit Pension Plans

Hourly employees at one of our manufUcturing fadilities participate in multiemployer defined benefit pension plans: the

PACE Industry Union-Management Pension Fund (PIUIMPF) which is managed by United Steelworkers (USW),

Benefits; and the International Association ofMachinist & Aerospace Workers National Pension Fund (lAM NPF). We
make contributions to these plans, as well as make contributions to a trust fund established to provide retiree medical

benefits for a portion ofthese employees, which is also managed by USW Benefits. The risks of participating in IIese

multiemployer plans are different from single-employer plans in IIe following respects:

. Assets contributed to the multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of
‘

oIIer participating employers:
.

.

If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, IIe unfUnded obligations of IIe plan may be borne by
IIe remaining participating employers. The number of employers participating in PIUMPF fell from 135 during
2012 to 49 during 2019. We believe IIat we are now the employer making the largest proportion of total

contributions.

Under applicable federal law, any employer contributing to a multiemployer pension plan IIat completely
ceases participating in IIe plan while it is underfunded is subject to an assessment of such employer’s allocable

share of IIe aggregate unfUnded vested benefits of the plan, except when that plan is in “critical” or “critical and

declining” status. In certain circumstances, an employer can also be assessed a statutory withdrawal liability for

a partial wiIIdrawal ifiom a multiemployer pension plan. Based on information available to us as of December

31, 2020, as well as information provided by PIUMPF and JAM NPF and reviewed by our actuarial consultant,

we estimate IIe aggregate pre-tax liability that we would have incurred ifwe had cdmpletely wiIIdrawn from

PIUMPF and lAM NPF in 2020 would have been in excess of $82 million. However, the exact amount of

potential exposure could be higher or lower than the estimate, depending on, among other things, the nature and.

timing of any triggering events and IIe fUnded status ofPIUMPF and 1AM NPF at IIat time. A withdrawal
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liability is recorded for accounting purposes when withdrawal is probable and the amount ofthe withdrawal

obligation is reasonably estimable.
.

Our participation in these plans for the annual period ended December 31, 2020, is outlined in the table below. The

“EIN” and “Plan Number” columns provide the Employee Identiffication Number, or ErN, and IIe three-digit plan
number. The most recent Pension Protection Act, or PPA, zone status available in 2020 and 2019 is for a plan’s year-end
as ofDecember31, 2020 and 2019. The zone status is set under the provisions of IIe Multiemployer Pension Plan

Reform Act of 2014 and is based on information we received ifiom the plans and is certiffied by each plan’s actuary.

Among oIIer factors, plans inthred zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the yellow zone are less

IIan 80 percent but more than 65 percent funded, and plans in IIe green zone are at least 80 percent funded. The “FIP/RP

Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates plans for which a Funding Improvement Plan, or FIP, or a Rehabilitation

Plan, or RP, is either pending or has been implemented as required by the PPA as a measure to co1Tct its underfunded

status. The last column lists IIe expiration date(s) of IIe collective-bargaining agreement(s) to which the plans are

subject. .

.

.

.

In 2020, the contribution rate for the JAM NPF plan was $4.00 per hour: In accordance with the Rehabilitation Plan, we

began contributing an additional contribution in June 2019. This additional contribution started at 2.5% and will increase

2.5% each year while IIe Rehabilitation Plan is in effect. Starting June of 2020 our additiotial contribution increased to

5.0% of our contractual contribution rate. This additional contribution is scheduled to continue and compound each year

while the rehabilitation plan remains in effect. In 2020, IIe contribution rate for PJIJMPF was $2.79 per hour.

Contribution rates for JAM NPF and PIUMPF were increased as part of the RP in lieu of IIe legally required surcharge,

paid by the employers, to assist the fund’s ffinancial status. We were listed in PIUMPF’s Form 5500 report as providing
more than ffive percent ofthe total contributions for IIe years 2019 and 2018. At the date of issuance of our consolidated

ffinancial statements, Form 5500 reports for these plans were not available for the 2020 plan year.

PPA Zone Contributions

Status (in millions)

FJP/

2020

.

2019

RP Status Pending/
Implemented .. 2020 2019 2018

Red Red Implemented $ 0.3 $ 0.3 $ 0.3

Red Red Implemented 5.5 5.3 5.4

[ Total Contributions: $ 5.7 $ 5.6 $ 5.7 ]

Expiration
Date

of Collective

Bargaining
Agreement

5/31/2023

8/31/2025

Other Beneffit Plans
,

.

, ,

‘ We maintain the Clearwater Paper Corporation Management Deferred Compensation Plan (the Plan). Pursuant to the

Plan, certain management employees are eligible to defer up to 50% of their regular salary and up to 10% of their Annual

incentives. Each plan participant is fully vested in these contributions. The liability under IIis plan totaled $3.2million

and $2.5 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The current and long term portions ofIIe liability is

included in “Accrued compensation” and “OIIer long-term obligations” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

EIN

51-6031295

11-6166763

-J

Pension

Fund

JAM NPF

PIUMPF

Plan

Number

002

001

Surcharge
Imposed

No

No
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NOTE 13 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss at the balance sheet dates is comprised ofIIe following:

Total(In millions)
.

[Balance atDecember3l, 2018 $ (83.0) $ (67.3)[
OIIer comprehensive income (loss) before reclassiffications 9.8 . (7.1) 2.7

[Amounts reclassiffied from accumulated oIIer comprehensive loss 5.4 (0.3) 5.1.]
OIIer comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 15.2 (7.4) 7.8

Balance at December 31, 2019
.

(67.8) 8.3 (59.5)]
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassiffications 6.0 (8.1) (2.1).

[mounts reclassiffied from accumulated oIIer comprehensive loss 7.3 —

, 7.3 [
OIIer comprehensive income (loss), net oftax 13.3 (8.1) 5.2

[Balance at December31, 2020 S (54.5) S 0.2 $ (54.3)]

NOTE 14 Earnings Per Share ..
.

Basic earnings (loss) per share are based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Diluted

earnings per share are based upon IIe weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus all potentially
dilutive securities that were assumed to be converted into common shares at the beginning of IIe period under the treasury

stock method. This meIIod requires that the effect of potentially dilutive common stock equivalents be excluded fflom the

calculation of diluted earnings per share for IIe periods in which net losses ar6 reported because the eLect is anti-dilutive.

The following table reconciles the number ofcommon shares used in calculating IIe basic and diluted net earnings per

‘share:
,

,

,

. .

.

December 31,

(In thousands - except per share data) 2020 2019 2018

[Basic average common shares outstanding’ 16,569 16,533 16,487 [
Incremental shares due to:

[ Stock based awards .

,

141 — —]
Performance Shares , 14 —.

.

—

[Diluted average common shares outstanding 16,724 1,6,533 16,487

Basic net income (loss) per common share $ 4.65 $ (0.34) $ (8.72)

[Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ 4.61 $ (0.34) $ (8.72)1
Anti-dilutive shares excluded fflom the calculation were 0.5 million, 1.0 million and 0.9 million for the years ended

December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. .

.

Basic average common shares outstanding include restricted stock awards that are fully vested, but are deferred for future issuance. See Note IS

‘Stockholders Equity’ for further discussion. .

Other Post

Retirement

Pension Plan Employee Beneffit

Adjustments Plan Adjustments

$ 15.7
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NOTE 15 Stockholders’ Equity .

.

PREFERRED STOCK ...

.

We are authorized to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock at $0.000i par value. At December 31, 2020, no

shares of preferred stock have been issued. . .

COMMON STOCK PLANS
, .

:

We have stock-based compensation plans under which stock opti6ns and restricted units are granted. At December 31,

2020, approximately 1.3 million shares were available for future issuance under our current plan.

,

.

$ $ $ _j
0.7 0.4 0.41

Year ended December 31,

2019:. 2020 .

(In millions)

:
‘

Total stock-based compensation expense

(selling,general ahd administrativ and other operating charges, net)

IncoIIe tax benefit related to stock-based compensation

: Impact on cash flow due to taxes paid related to net share settlement of
‘

equity awards ,

We recognize IIe compensation costs on a straight-line basis over IIe requisite service period of the award, which is

generally the vestiigterm ‘of one to IIree years.
. .

2018

Restricted Stock Units (Time andPerformance Vesting)
.

.

.

.

We grant restricted awards to certain employees. The awards can either be time vested or vested based upon the

attainment of certain performance metrics over a certain time period. Performance conditions generally are tied to
‘

attainment of certain flnancial targets such as return on invested capital, fflee cash flow or other similar measures.

‘ Awards granted under this plan generally have a performance or vesting period of three years fflbm the date of grant.
These awards are eligible to receive dividend equivalent shares.The market value ofthese grants approximates the fair

value. For awards based upon the achievement ofperformance goals, the award could range from 0% to 200%. A

summary ofthe status of outstanding restricted stock units as ofDecember 31, 2020, and changes during the year, is
‘

presented below:
‘

.

.

Time Vested Performance-based

.

. Weighted Weighted
‘

Average Average
. Grant Date Grant Date

. Shares Fair Value
‘

Shares Fair Value

Restiicted stock umts, outstanding at Decembei 31, 2019 190,190 $ 31 76 177,032 $ 29 09

Granted
.

‘

377,822 23.46
, 120,382 27.67

L Vested (81,214) 3512 — —]
Forfeited / Canceled’

,

(61,546) 26.41 (103,069) 29.92

tRestricted stock units, outstanding at December 31, 2020 425,252
‘

24.52 194,345 27.76

Deferred shares, outstanding at December 31, 2020 33,663 7.31
‘

—

.

{ Total units outstanding at Decembei 31, 2020 458 915 $ 2326 194 345 27 76

‘Forfeited / Canceled performance-based restricted stock units include both shares forfeited due to employees failure to meet requisite service period
and also due to failure to meet required performance measures.

,

,

The total fair value of share awards that vested during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $2.9

million, $2.1 million and $2.0 million. .
.

As ofDecember 31, 2020, there was $7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related tooutstanding restricted
‘

stock unit awards. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years.
‘ ‘
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Stock Options

Prior to January 1, 2019, we granted options to certain empl6yees. The options are granted atmarket price at the date of

grant. Options become exercisable over one to three years and expire ten years aifier the date of grant. The following
table sets out the weighted average assumptions used to estimate the fair value ofthe options granted using the Black

Scholes option-pricing model (dividend yield is ignored):
.

.

2018

Volatility
The expected volatility is based upon Cleaiwater Papei’s historical stock piices 35 %

Risk-free interest

rate ‘

The risk-free interest rate is based on constant maturity treasury rates with

maturities matching the options’ expected life on the grant date.

.

2.74 %

Expectedlife-
. years

The expected life is the approximate mid-point between the expected vesting time
and the remaining contractual life. ‘

.
6 years

A summary ofthe status of outstanding stock option awards as ofDecember 31, 2020, and changes during the year, is

presented below:
. .

.

Outstanding options at December 31, 2020

Outstanding and exercisable ‘options at .

December3l,2020 .325,161 $ 50.16

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during 2018 was $14.51.

Director Awards
.

.

In connection with joining our Board ofDirectors, in Januaiy 2009 our outside directors at that time were granted an

award of phantom common stock units, which were credited to an account established on behalf of each director and

vested’ratably over a three-year period with the ffinal vesting in January 2012. Subsequent equity awards have been

granted ‘annually in May, or on a pro-rate basis as applicable, to our outside directors in the form of phantom common

stock units as part of IIeir annual compensation, which are credited to their accounts. These awards vest ratably over a

one-year, period. These accounts will be credited with additional phantom common stock units equal in value to

dividends paid, if any, on.the same amount of common stock. Upon separation fflom service as a director, the vested

portion of IIe phantom common stock units held by the director in a stock unit account are converted to cash based upon

the then market price of the common stock and paid to the director.
.

Due to its cash-settlement feature, we account for these awards as liabilities rather than equity and recognize IIe equity-
based compensation expense or income at the end of each reporting period based on IIe portion ofthe award that is

vested and the increase or decrease in, the value of our common stock.

‘We recorded director equity-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019 of $2.9 million and $0.3 million. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a beneffit of $2.3 million.

.

At December 31, 2020 and.20 19 the liability amounts associated with director equity-based compensation included in

“OIIer long-term obligations” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet was $5.2 million and $2.4 million.

Weighted
Average Exercise

Price

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life

(Years)Shares
‘ ‘

Outstanding options at December 31, 2019 656,374 $ 4936 62 $ —

Exercised
:

(972) .

29.12

Forfeited
,

‘

,

,‘ . (23,164) .

,

. 37.49
.

,

j
Expired

‘

(278,792)
,

353,446 $

50.71

49.13

‘

5.2 $,
‘

, —I

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

5.0 $

64



NOTE 16 Commit

e

SE F I SURANCE .
We are prim ril  self-in ured for wor ers  compensat on an  emp o ee health care liab li y osts. Sel -insur nce

li biliti s for wo kers’ compen ation are d termined bas d up n a valuati n p rf rmed by n actuaria  ffi m. The e tim

of utu e worker ’ compe satio  liabi iti s incorpora es loss develo ment and an est mate ass ciated with ncu

not yet rep rted laim . Thes  claim  ar  discount d. Sel -insuran e l abi iti s for emp oyee ealth ost  ar  determined

actuaria ly based up n

PU CHAS  OBLIGAT ONS

To hel  itigate ou  ex osure t  ma ket risk for ch nges in util ty com odity pricing  we use ffi m pri e co tracts t

supply  port on of the na ura  gas and ele tricity re ui ements of o r anfacturing f cilit es, w ich were eport

through “Cost of al s” n our Co solidat d State ents of Ope ati ns. As of D cembe 31  20 0, these c ntracts cover
approximat ly 17% f our expec ed averag  monthl  na ural gas nd electri ity needs at IIe re pectiv  manu

faciliti s t roug  2021. T es  contracts qua ify for tre t

e

gu dance and hus require  no mark- o-m rket ad ust

We ent r i to II rd-p rty contr cts for certa n raw mate ia s, inc uding pulp, og  and ch micals, which may exten

beyond one ear. S ch contra ts are typically egotiated o ensu e av ilability f c rtain p oduct specifficatio s a

prices tha  ad ust regul rly ithin re so able com ercial ter s. Such agreeme ts may inc ude minimu .qu ntities, b
reduction

mate ia

NOTE 17 Segme t I formation

Ourbusine ses are rganiz d i to t o reportab e operat ng s gme ts: Consumer Pro ucts and ulp and Pap rb ard. The

reporting s gm nts follow t e same a count ng p lic es us d f r our Con olidat d Finan
i

l

performa ce of ou

 

Con umer Pro

Our Consu er Prod ct  segment manufa tures’ and sell  a omplet  line f at-h me tissu  produc s, or retai  produc
and mi or mounts of away ifiom-home issue product  a d paren  rolls. Retai  products in lude ba h, paper owels,

facial a d nap in roduct c

prem um, value and 
c

Pul  and Pap

Ou Pu p and Pap rboard s gm nt m nu acture  and m rkets sol d bleach d s lfate p peboard for I e h gh-end 

of the p ckaging i du try as ell as ffers ustom shee ing  sl tting and cutt ng f paperboa d. Our o erall p odu

consists pr mar ly o  fo ding carto , liquid ack ging, cup and plate p oducts nd com ercial prin ing grade . T

majority o  cur Pulp a

co
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For the ear ended Decem er31  2 20, one c sIIm r wa  14% of ur tot l con dlidated sal s and or Ie ear 

December 31, 2019  th re were o c sto er  wi h mor  than 10% of our total c
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Our manu ac uring fac li ies and all oII r assets a e l cated ithin the c nt nen al Un ted States  We s ll and s ip 
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ITEM 9A. C ntols and Pr

Ev luation f disclosur  control  an

We maint in di closu e ont ols and roce ures ” a  such te m s deff ned n Rule 13a-1 (e) unde  t e ecurities

Ex hange A t of 19 4, o  I e Exch nge A t, hat are esi ne  to ensur  that iiif rmation req ire  to be d sclose  by

in r ports t at we flu  o  su mit u der the Ex han e Ac  is ecorded, pr ce sed, summar zed  and reporte  w IIi

time period  specifle  in SEC iles and f rms, and th t su h i formaion is ac umulated an  com un cated to our
manag ment, ncluding ur Ch ef E ecutive fficer, or CE , and Chi f F nancial Of ice , or CFO, s approp iat

allow time y decision  reg i ding req ired dis los re In desig in  and e alu ting oui discl sui  controls and

m nagement reco nized that isc osure con rols and roce ure , no matte  h w w ll conceiv d and op rat

. .provide only re sonable, ot absolut , assura ce hat the obj cti es of IIe isclosure c ntr ls and p oc dures are

. Additi na ly, in des gni g disclosure ontrols and ro edures, ur managem nt neces ari y was requi ed o appl  i

judgment i  evaluat ng he cost-be ef it r latio sh p of poss ble dis losure cont ols a d p ocedures. he design of .‘ .

dis losur  co tr ls and proce ures is lso ba ed i  part u on certain a sum tions bout he li eli ood of fu ure ev

and IIere c
n b

 o

conditi ns  . 

Subject to th  lmit tions ote  above, o r ana ement, wit  the par ici ation of o r EOand CFO  hs e aluate  the

e

fective es  of he des gn and op rati n of ur di cl sure controls an  pr ced res as f the end of t e fis al ye

.
cover d b  IIis annu l report on orm 10-K. ase  on IIat va uati n, Ie EO an  CF  have conc uded that, as of s

: ate  our discl sure cont ols an  
r c

d

r

s

a

at the reaso able a suranc  l vel. . : . . . .

Man gement’s A nu l Report on Int rnal Control Ove  Financial eporting
O r ma agem nt is respo si le for e tab ishin  and maint ining ade uate intern l c ntro  over financial ep rti g  a

‘ such term is deffin d i  Ex han e A t R les 3a- 5(f). Under he uperv sion and iI th parti iption of our : 

management  includin  o r CEO and FOand with IIe over ig t’o  the Aud t Commi tee f the Boa d of Dire tors, ou

management co ducted a  assessm nt of the ffectiven ss of ur int rnal cont ol over financial reportin  baed 

fflamewo k in Inter al Co trol- Integ ated ra ewo k issued b  the omm ttee of Sponsor ngO ganization  

T
eadway Co miss on 2013 Fra ework). Base  on our e aluation nder the 201  F amwork, ou  managem n

 

: c ncluded that ur int rnal con rol ove  fin ncial rep rting was ff ctve as of Dec mber 31, 020. ‘ ‘ ‘ :
T

e ef ecti en ss of our i ternal con rol ov r financia  repo ti g as o  D cembe  31, 2 20 has b en audi

‘

K MG L P, an
i

d p n

e

t r
g s

e

e

‘ . For  1 -K. . .  . , .  ‘ ‘

C

a

g

s in i tern l ontrol ve  ff nancial eportin  . ,

, ‘ , ‘T ere wer  no hang s in our i ternal co tr l o er flnanci l ‘rep rt ng that oc urred d rin  our mos  recent y tu
p

e

‘ flscal uarter tha  

a

e
m

t

r

a

l

fl



RE ORT OF INDEPENDE T R GISTE EDPUBLIC AC
O

N

IN  

To IIe Sto kholde s and Board f
D

Cleaiwa er Paper. C rporati n: :

Op nion on Inte nal Contro  Over Financial R por

We ha e audite  Cl arwat r Pap r orporati n and subsi ia ies’ (II  Compan ) internal c ntrol ove  finan ial rprt

a

 of Decem er 31, 2020, ased on crite ia est blished n Internal on rol — Integr ted Framewo k (2013) is ue d b

. Commit ee of Spo soring Or anizatio s of th  Tre dway Comm ssion. In ou  oinion, the ompan  main ai ed, in a

material re pe ts, effective i t

rnal contr l over fi ancial report ng as f Decembe 31  2020, bas d on criteria
est blished n InternalC

n

r

l

-

th  Tre dway Commissi n.

We also ha e audite , i  accordance ith the standa ds of IIe Publ c om any Account ng O ers ght B ard (United

.. States) ( CAOB), IIe co solidated b lance sheets f IIe.C mpany as of D cember3 , 2 20 a d 201 , I e re at

co sol dated stat ments f ope ations, omp ehens ve nco e, stoc holde s’ equity, and cas  flows for e ch of the

in the three yea  pe iod en ed De ember 31  20 0, a d the rel te  notes (col ectivel , he co solidated fi

s atements), 
n

 

. staeme ts. . .

Bas s for Opi ion . S .  .

The Compan ’sman gement is res on ible for maintai ing ffective nternal co trol ove  f nan ial reportin  and for its
assess ent of th  effecti eness o  int rnal cont ol over fl anc al reporting, nc ud d in th  a company ng Man

Annual Re ort on I ternal ontr l Over Fi ancial Re ortin . ur espons bi ity i  to ex ress an op nion

Com any’s int rna  control ov r inancial re orti g based on our audit. e re a publi  acc unt ng f rm regi

IIe PCAOB nd a e r qui ed to be i depen ent with respec .t  II  Company i  ac ordance iII IIe U. . f der

se urities l ws nd th  a plicable r les nd egulation  o  II  Secur ties nd Exchan e Commi sion an  the PCA

We cond cte  our ud t in a cordance w II the st ndard  of the PCAOB. Th se stand rds req ire Iat we pla

perform II  a dit to obtai  reasonab e a suran e bout whe Ier eff ctive internal ontrol ov r ffinan ial repor in

maintained in al  materia  respec s. O r audit o  internal ontrol ov r, inan ial e orting i cluded o taining
und rstanding f i ternal con rol over lnancial repo ti g, asses ing the risk ha  a aterial eaktw s e ists, and 

a d evalua ing IIe de ign nd op rating eff ct ve ess of int rnal cont ol bas d on IIe asses ed risk. O r au it 

: includ d performing such the  pr cedures a  

e

c n

provides a rea onable basi  fr our op nion..  . .

D finition nd Limit tions o  Int rnal Cont ol Over F na c al Repo

A c mpany’s int rn l control over fina cial rep rting is a ro ess desig ed to prov de easonabl  assuran e 

th  reliabiiy of fln ncial repo ting .and t e preparati n of fin ncial s ateme ts for ex ernal purposes in accordance wi
.: enerall ’ ccep ed ccounti g rin iples. A co pay’s int rnal on rol ‘over inancia  reporting ncl des II tapolic

and procedur s I at (1) perta n o t e main en nce of recor s I at, in easonable etail, ac urat ly and fairl  re

t

ansactio s nd dispos ti ns of he assets o  I e company  (2) provi e easonable ssur nce that ransacti

. recorded as nec ssar  to perm t p eparation of fi anc al stat men s in ccor ance wi I generall  acc pted accountin

. principl s, nd IIat r ce pts and expe dit res of IIe ompany are being mad  only in ccordance iI  autho
managemen  a d directors f IIe compan ; an  ( ) provide r asnab e assuran e rega ding preve tion o

detection of unauthor
z d

a

q

financi l tat ments. .

Becau e of its in er nt imitations in ernal control ov r fina cial re ort ng may ot pre ent r de ect miss ate

Also, proj ctions f ny eval at on of effec iv ness to uture er ods are su ject to he risk Ia  controls ay 
inadequate b

c

u

e

det rior te.

.

/si KPMG

Seattle, Washing
o

F

b

u
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ITE  10. Dire tors, Executi e O fficers a d Corpor te Gov

The Nam

T tle / Po itiot
 

] 

Pieside t nd Chi Mi

S nior ic  Presi ] S

Michae  S. Gad

Jo

56 Senior Vice President nd Gene al Couns l and Co porate S S

Kari . oyes 3 S nior V ce President  Hu an Re

Arsen . itch h s se ved as Pre ident a d Chief xecutive Off cer, as well s a d rec dr, inc  April 20 0. M

served as enior V ce Presi ent, Gen ral Mana er, Cons mer P odudts ivis on sin e May 20 8 and er ed a

Preside t, ener l Manager  Consumer Products Div sion ffl m Jan ary 201  to ay 2018  He serv d as 
i

Finance an  Vice reside t F nancial Pl nning and na ysis f lom anuary 201  IIrogh Decemb r 217. 

Mich el J. Mu phy j ine  IIe c mpany n pr l 2020 as S nior Vice res den , Chief Financial Of  cer. Fro

2020 to A ril 2 20  Mr. Mu phy worked a  an indepe den  co sultat for the Company sssting i  long t rm st a

planning. Pr or o j ining the Com any  Mr. Mu phy was the C ief Fina ci l Of ficer of Nx dge, In ., a par

manufa turer fo  IIe emi onductor nd display i 4 stries,  posit on he he d flom April 201  to Nove ber

served KapS one P per and Pack gi g Corpor tion, a p blic y traded ompany, as Vi e Presi ent tr tegy an  Stra eg

Initia iv s fflom J nua y 20 6 to Nove be  2018  and i e Pre ide t Finance fflom Oc ober 2 14 to Ja uary 2016  H

serve  

s

T

2014. . 

Steve M. Bo de  has se ved as Senio  Vice President  Gen ra  Manager  Pulp and Paperb ard Div sion ince Oct b

2018. rior to joinin  he com any  fflom Sep ember 2016 to No emb r 2017, Mr. owden wa  t e N rth America
 

Region Vice Pr siden  - Labels fo  Constanti  Flex bles, w ich as ubsequen ly acqui ed by the Mult -Col r 

Corporati n at hich he se ved s resident, NorII Ame ica Fo d a d Beverag  Di isi n flom No ember 2017 o

Septembe  2018. Fr
m M

contrac  p ckag r. 

Micha l S. Gad  has e

since ecember 200

Joan e Shufel  has se ved s Se ior Vice P es dent, G nera  Manager, onsumer Product  Divisio  since Ju e 2

From Fe ruary 02  to une 2020 s e served as In eri  Vice Pres dent, Ge eral Man ger Cons mer roducts. Ms

Shufe t se ved as Vic  Presiden , N tional Sales an  Marketi g, Consu er P oduc s Di is on from Octo er2 15 to Ju

2020; Vice Pre ident, M rketing nd Sales, Cons mer P oduc s ivis on fr
m

Sale  M nager  Consumer Pr ducts ivis on,fflom A ril 2 12 to Jul  2013

Kari G. Mo es ha served as Senio  Vic  Pre ident, uman Re ource
 

President, abor Rela ions fflom Jul  2 13 hroug  Janu ry 

Inf rma ion egardi g ‘our ir ctors is set fo th unde  t e h adi g “Bo rd of Di ec or ” in our de finit ve p oxy s

for IIe 20 1 Ann al Meeting f tockholders o be h ld on May 17, 2021, refer ed to in his repor  asIIe 202  Pro

Stateme t, wh ch nformation is incorp ra ed he ein by ef ren e. In ormat on egardin  reporti g com liance with

Section 1 (a) for dir ct rs, offf cers r other p rti s s set forth nder t e eading “Se

Re orti g Compl a ce” n he 2021 roxy St tem nt and is i corpora ed her in by ref ren

We ave ad pted a Co e of Busines  C ndu t an  EII cs hat applie  to all directors nd em loyees and a Cod  of Ethi

for Senior Offfic rs th t pplies to ur EO, CFO, the resi en , t e Contr ll r.and ot er enior Fin ncial Of

identifled by.our Board f Directo s. You can lnd each code on ur w bsite by oin  to Ie ollow ng address:

ww



-------

Conduct an Et ics” or“Code f E hics f r Senior fficers.  We ill ost any am nd ents, as

are requi edto be dis los d by th  rules of either the SEC or the New York Sto k E cha ge, o  u website. o dat

waivers of the Code of thics for eni r Financia  Of icers have been consi ere  or gran

Our Board o  D recto s as dopted co porate g vernance guidelines and harters f r the Boa d of Direc ors

Committee, C mpen ation Com itt e, and Nomi ating

our ebs te by goi g to the fol
Governance,  then se ec ing he ap ropr ate li

ITEM 11. xe uti e Co pensa

Info mat on requi ed by Ite  1  of Par  III is inc uded u der the headin  “E

Analysi ” in our 20 1 Proxy St

ITEM 12. Se urity Ow er hip f er ain ene fi ial Owne s nd anag ment 

Rel ted Stock older Matters 

Inform

The fo lo ing table rovide  c rtain info
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N mber Of ec rities N mber f ecu

To Be Issue  Upon We ghted Avera e Remain ng Av ilable
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FINANCIAL ST TEMENTS

The followin  ffinancia  s atements o  

learw ter P per are ncl ded i  this rep

Consolidated Balance Sh et  - December 3 , 2020  and 2 1,9. 
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Consol da ed tatements of Cash Flo s 
.
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EXH BIT DESC

N

3.1 Re tat d Certiff cate of Incorp ra ion f t e Com any, eff ctive as o  D cember 1

. fli d with

3.1 to the omp ny’s Cur ent Re or on Form 8-K flied wit  t e ommissio  on Dece

3.2 men ed and Res at d Bylaws of he Com a

(in orporated y ref re ce to E hib t 3.2 to the Compa y’s Curren  Repo t on Form 8 K fl
with the Commi sio  on Decemb r 1 , 2008).

4.1 Inde ture, dated a  o  July 29, 20 4, by a d a on  Cl arwater P per Cor oratio  (
“ egist ant” , t e Guaranto s as d ffi ed the e

truste , (i co porate  by re erenc  to Exhi it 4.1 to the Co pany’s Cu re t Repor  n orm

K flied w II th  C mmissio  on Ju y 2 , 2014). 
4.1(i) For  o  5.3 5% enior 

o e

Ind nture flie  as E hi it4.1 to the Compa y’  Cu rent eport on F rm 8-  flied with he.

Commission on uiy 29, 014). . 

4.  Indentur , ated as of ug st 8, 2020, y and a ong Ci ar ater Pap r Cor orat on,

Guarantors (a  deffi ed herein

by ref renc  t  Exhib t 4.1 o IIe Com any’  Current ep rt on F r  8 K f ied with t

Co mission o  A gust 18  20 0)

4.2(i) For  o  4.750  Se ior No

by r fere ce t  Exhibit 4 2 to Ie Co pany s C rrent Re ort on Fo m 8-K fl ed wi h the
Co mission on Aug st 18, 202

1

.1 Term Loan gr ement, da ed as of J ly 2 , 019  by and a ong JPM rgan C as  Ban , N

as a min strative a en , an  th  iende s

p

. (i cor orated by referen e to xh bi  10.  to IIe om any s Cur ent Repo t on orm 8 K fli
wi h the Commissi n on J ly 1, 019). .

1 .2 ABL Credit Ag eement, d te  as of uiy 6, 201  by and a ong JPM rgan C as  Ban , N

as ad ini trative ag nt  and IIe lender

. (inco porated by efe ence t  Exhibit 1 .2 to th  C mpany’s Cur ent ep rt n For  8-K fli

.

ith t e Com issio  o  Juiy 31, 2019
1

.2(i) Amend entto A L Cr di  Ag eement, d ted as of Januar  2 , 20 0 by and a ong PMo

. Chase Ba k, N.A , s admi

. refer nceto Exhibit 1 .2 to he ompany s Quarterl  Repo t n orm 10 Q lied wi h t

Commissi n on ay 5, 2020)
10.2(u) Fi st Am ndment to t e ABL Credit gr ement, da ed as of A gust 7, 202  by and a

JPMorgan hase B nk  N.A , as admin stra ive agent, and th  ienders pa ty the e

Ciear ater Pa er Corporation ( ncorporat d by re eren e to Ex ibi  10.1 t  II  Com an

Quarterly Rep rt on For  10Q fl ed with IIe C mm ssion on ov mber 3, 2020)  .

1 .3  Fo m of Inde niffication greement nt red nt  betw en I e C mpany and ac

director  an  execu
i
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10.4’ Employment Agreement between Linda K. Massman and the Company, dated effective

January 1, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(i) to IIe Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q flied with the Commission May 8, 2019).

10.5’ Employment Agreement between Arsen S. Kitch and IIe Company, dated effective April 1,
2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to IIe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K

flied with the Commission on January 31, 2020).

10.6’ Offer letter, dated April 9, 2020 between Michael J. Murphy and the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to IIe Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q flied with the

Commission on May 5, 2020).

10.7’ Clearwater Paper Corporation Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K flied with the

Commission on May 8, 2015).

10.7(i)’ Amendment to the Clearwater Paper Corporation Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive

Plan, effective Januaiy 1, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(i) to the Company’s
Aimual Report on Form 10-K flied wiII the Commission on February 22, 2017).

10.7(u)1 Clearwater Paper Corporation 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.1 to IIe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K flied wiII the Commission on May 11,
2017).

10.7(iii)’ Amendment to the Clearwater Paper Corporation 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K flied with the

Commission on May 19, 2020).

10.81 Clearwater Paper Corporation—Form of Performance Share Agreement, as amended and

restated, to be used for annual performance share awards approved subsequent toDeember

31, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form

8-K flied with the Commission on February 10, 2017).

10.8(i)’ Clearwater Paper Corporation-Form ofPerformance Share Agreement, as amended and

•restated, to be used for annual performance share awards approved subsequent to December

31, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form

8-K flied with the Commission on February 14, 2019).

10.9* Ciearwater Paper Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan—Form ofRestricted Stock Unit

Agreement, as amended and restated December 1, 2009, to be used for annual restricted stock

unit awards approved subsequent to December 31, 2009, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10. 12(u) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K flied wiII the Commission on

December 4, 2009).

10.9(i)’ Clearwater Paper Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan—Form ofRSU Deferral Agreement
.

for Founders Grant RSUs (incorporated by reference. to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K flied with the Commission on December 14,2011).

10.9(u)’ Clearwater Paper Corporation Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, to be used for restricted stock unit awards approved
subsequent to December 31, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(xii) to the

.

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K flied with the Commission February 22, 2016).

10.9(iii)’ Clearwater Paper Corporation—Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amended and
,

restated, to be used for restricted stock unit awards approved subsequent to December 31, 2016

. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K flied

with the Commission on February 10, 2017).
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10.9(iv)1 .Clearwater Paper Corporation-Form ofRestricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amended and

restated, to be used for restricted stock unit awards approved subsequent to December31, 2017

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit, 10.7(x) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K

‘. flIed with the Commission on February 21, 2018).

10.9(v)1 Ciearwatei Paper Corporation-Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, as amended and

restated, to be used for restricted stock unit awards approved subsequent to December 31, 2019

(incrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20*1 to IIe Company’s Annual Report ofFrom 10-K

flied with the Commission on March 9, 2020).

10.101 Clearwater Paper Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of Stock Option Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s current Report on Form 8-K flied

wiII IIe Commission on February 18, 2014).

10.10(i)1 Clearwater Paper Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan—Letter ofAmendment to

Outstanding Stock Option Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2015 (incorporated by
. reference to Exhibit 10.7(i) to IIe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K flied with the

.
Commission on February 26, 2015),

.

.

.

. 10. 10(u)1 Ciearwater Paper Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of Stock Option Agreement,
to be used for annual restricted stock unit awards approved subsequent to December 31; 2014

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(u) to IIe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K

flied with the Commission on February 26, 2015).
‘

10.10(iii)’ Clearwater Paper Corporation Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of

Stock Option Agreement, to be used for annual restricted stock unit awards approved
subsequent to December 31, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(iii) to the

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K flied with the Commission February 22, 2016).

10.1 0(iv)’ Clearwater Paper Corporation— Form of Stock Option Agreement, as amended and restated,
to be used for annual restricted stock unit awards approved subsequent to December 31, 2016

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to IIe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the Commission on February 10, 2017). .

10.10(v)1 Clearwater Paper Corporation- Form of Stock Option Agreement, as amended and restated, to

be used for annual restricted stock unit awards approved subsequent to December31, 2017

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(v) to the Company’s Annual Report on’Form 10-K

flied with the Commission on February 21, 2018).

10.111 Clearwater Paper Corporation Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit .

10.1 to IIe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K flied with IIe Commission on May 9,

2014). .

.

10.11(i)1 Amendment to IIe Clearwater Paper Corporation Annual Incentive Plan, effective as of

January 1, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to IIe Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q flied with the Commission on July 27, 2016,).

10.121 Amended and Restated Clearwater Paper Corporation Management Deferred Compensation
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to IIe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-

K flied wiII the Commission on February 22, 2017).

10.12(i)’ Amendment to the Amended and Restated Clearwater Paper Corporation Management

.

Deferred Compensation Plan, effective May 1, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2

to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q flied with IIe Commission on August 4,

. . 2020).
.

.

.

10.131 Ciearwater Paper Executive Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the

. Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K flied with IIe Commission on February 20, 2014).

‘

: .
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10.13(i)’ Clearwater Paper Amended Executive Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10(i) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K flied wiII IIe Commission on March 9,
2018).

10.14’ Amended and Restated Clearwater Paper Corporation Salaried Supplemental Beneffit Plan

. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to IIe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K

flied with the Commission on February 22, 2017).

10.14(1)’ Amendment to the Amended and Restated Clearwater Paper Corporation Salaried

Supplemental Beneffit Plan, effective May 1, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to

the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q flied with IIe Commission on August 4,

2020).

10.15 Clearwater Paper Corporation Benefits Protection Trust Agreement (incorporated by reference
. to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K flied with the Commission on

March 18, 2009).
.

.

.

10.15(i)’ Amendment to the Clearwater Paper Corporation Benefits Protection Trust Agreement, dated

August 8, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16(i) to th Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q flied with the Commission on October31, 2013). .

10.16k Clearwater Paper Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, (Jncorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to IIe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on December 19, 2008).

10.16(i)’ Amended and Restated Clearwater Paper Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for

. Directors, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1:to IIe Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K flied with the Commission on December 7, 2017).
. .

10.16(u)’ Amended and Restated Clearwater Paper Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for

Directors, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(i) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q flied with the Commission on August 7, 2018).

10.17’ Clearwater Paper Change of Control Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to IIe

Company’s Annual’Report on Form 10-K flied with the Commission on February 20, 2014).

(21) Clearwater Paper Corporation Subsidiaries.
.

(23) Consent ofIndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

(24) . Powers ofAttorney.
.

.

(31) Rule 13a- 14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications. .

(32) Furnished statements ofthe Chief Executive Offlcer and Chief Financial Officer under 18

U.S.C. Section 1350.
.

.
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101 Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, the following flnancial information from IIe

Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for IIe year ended December 31, 2019, is formatted

in XBRL interactive data flies: (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended

December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017; (ii) Consoiidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Loss) for IIe years ended December31, 2019, 2018 and 2017; (iii) Consolidated Balance

Sheets at December31, 2019 and 2018, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for IIe

years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, (v) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’

Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 20.18 and 2017, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated

Financiai Statements.

1 Management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K Summary
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
.

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 25, 2021

By

CLEARWATER PAPER CORPORATION

(Registrant)

/si Arsen S. Kitch

Arsen S. Kitch

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
.

Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf ofthe registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. :

.

Byl /si Arsen S. Kitch

Arsen S. Kitch

President, ChiefExecutive Offficer and

Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Date

February 25, 2021

By /si Michael J. Murphy
Michael J. Murphy

By /si Rebecca A. Barckley
. Rebecca A Barckley

Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief

Financial Offlcer (Principal Financial

Officer)

. Vice President, Corporate Controller

(Principal Accounting Offficer)

February 25, 2021

February 25, 2021

*

Alexander Toeldte

*

Kevin J. Runt

Director and Chair of the Board

Director

February 25, 2021

February 25, 2021

*

John i. Corkrean February 25, 2021

February 25, 2021

February 25, 2021

February 25, 2021

February 25, 2021

/si Michael S. Gadd

Michael S. Gadd

(Attorney-in-fact)

*

John W. Laymon

*

William D. Larsson

*

John P. O’Donnell

*

Ann C. Nelson
.

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

*By
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Corporate Information

MANAGEMENT

Arsen S. Kitch

President and Chief Executive Offcer

Michael J. Murphy

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offcer

Steve M. Bowden

Senior Vice President, General Manager,
Pulp and Paperboard Division

Michael S. Gadd

Senior Vice President, General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary

Karl G. Moyes

Senior Vice President, Human Resources .

Joanne P. Shufelt

Senior Vice President, General Manager,
Consumer Products Division

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John J. Corkrean

Director since 2019

Kevin J. Hunt

Director since 2013

Arsen S. Kitch

Director since 2020

William D. Larsson

Director since 2008

Joe W. Laymon

Director since 2019

Ann C. Nelson

Director since 2020

John P. O’Donnell

Director since 2016

Alexander Toeldte

Independent Executive Chair of the Board,
Director since 2016

EXECUTIVE OFFICES

601 West Riverside Avenue

Suite 1100

Spokane, WA 99201

Phone: (509) 344-5900

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

STOCK LISTING

Clearwater Paper common stock is listed under the

symbol CLW0n the New York Stock Exchange.

ANNUAL MEETING
.

The 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held on Monday,

May 17, 2021, at 9:00 am. (Paciffic Time). The meeting will be held at

601 W. Riverside Ave., Spokane, WA 99201 and via webcast.

Register to attend the webcast at

https://register.proxvpush.com/CLW.

TRANSFER AGENT

MAILING ADDRESSES

Stockholder correspondence should be mailed to:

Computershare
P.O. BOX 505000

Louisville, KY 40233

Overnight correspondence should be sent to:

Computershare
462 South 4th Street Suite 1600

Louisville, KY 40202

STOCKHOLDERWEBSITE

www.computershare.com/investor

Stockholder online inquiries

https://www-us.computershare.com/investor/Contact

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Copies of the company’s ffilings with the Securities and Exchange

Commission, the company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code

of Business Conduct and Ethics, and Charters of the Committees of

the Board of Directors are available free of charge at the company’s

website, www.clearwaterpaper.com.

This report contains, in addition to historical information, certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, including statements regarding succession planning; diversity; product sustainability and attributes; environmental, social and

governance goals, commitments and performance; and human capital and work-force commitments. These forward-looking statements are based on

management’s current expectations, estimates, assumptions, and projections that are subject to change. Our actual results of operations may diTher

materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this report. Important factors that could cause or contribute to

such diTherences include those discussed in the URisk FactorsU and Developments and Trends in Our BusinessU sections contained in our Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December31, 2020, which is in this report. Forward-looking statements contained in this report present
management’s views only as of the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of

new information, future events or otherwise.
.

FSC5-CERTIFIED PAPER

Clearwater Paper Corporation’s Annual Report was printed by Donnelley Financial Solutions entirely on FSC-certifled paper. Chain-of-Custody
certifficateTT-COC-005939. The Annual Reportwas printed on Donnelley Financial Opaque Text manufactured from FSC-recycled content.

r
L

I
FSC

Mlxi
responsible sources

Paper from I

FSCSCI32IO7J

Toll Free Number

Outside the U.S.

Hearing Impaired

TDD International

866-205-6799

201-680-6578

800-490-1493

781-575-4592
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